




VISION
The most proactive, dynamic and 
sustainable Chicken Industry in Canada.  
Consumer Focused, Value Chain Driven.  

MISSION
Work with the Value Chain to optimize 
efficiency and delivery to consumers;

Engage stakeholders to gain their trust and 
confidence;

Strengthen our Social Licence; and 
Implement policy in a timely manner.  
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WHO WE ARE: 
OUR MANDATE
Created and empowered by the British Columbia 
Chicken Marketing Scheme in 1961, the British Columbia 
Chicken Marketing Board (BCCMB) is responsible for 
setting provincial price, determining quota, allocating 
quota to growers, managing the quota system and 
collecting levies.  This includes all activities from the 
time the day-old chick arrives on farm until the chicken 
arrives at the processing plant, and is regulated through 
reporting procedures established in the BCCMB 
General Orders.  Hatcheries, growers, transporters and 
processors are licenced by the Board on an annual 
basis.  

Supply Management relies on three pillars; import 
controls, live price setting and controlling supply.  
Through quota and allocation, supply management 
of the chicken industry balances provincial chicken 
production with consumption of chicken products.  

OUR GUIDING PRINCIPLES 
To respond to changing societal priorities and a 
changing and increasingly complex marketplace, the 
Board has adopted a number of principles to guide its 
members within its national and provincial mandate 
and jurisdiction.  The priorities of the Board are outlined 
in the current 5-year strategic plan which appears on 
the BCCMB website at www.bcchicken.ca.  It is the 
intention of the Board to commence the process to 
review and develop a new strategic plan early in 2016 
with completion scheduled for 2017.  

We apply Principles-Based Regulation through the use 
of SAFETI: 

Strategic – identifying key opportunities and 
systemic challenges, and plan for actions to 
effectively manage risk and take advantage of 
future opportunities

Accountable – maintaining legitimacy and 
integrity through understanding and discharging 
responsibilities and reporting performance

Fair – ensuring procedural fairness in processes 
and decision making 

Effective – ensuring clearly defined outcomes 
with appropriate processes and measures

Transparent – ensuring that processes, 
practices, procedures, and reporting on how the 
mandate is exercised are open, accessible and 
fully informed

Inclusive – ensuring that appropriate interests, 
including the public interest, are considered

British Columbia has over 328 chicken growers licenced 
by the Board, holding either a quota or a permit.  
Growers produce a number of chicken varieties:

zz Mainstream Quota 

z� Certified organic chicken

z� Free run (inside the barn)

Report from the 
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z� Free range (access to the outdoors)

z� RWA (raised without antibiotics)

zz Specialty Chicken (sold in the marketplace with 
head and feet attached)

z� Taiwanese Chicken

z� Silkie Chicken

All growers are required to apply for a licence each 
calendar year, and may be granted a licence if they 
continue to be in good standing with the Board.  
Growers must follow and receive yearly certification in:

zz The National On Farm Food Safety Assurance 
Program (OFFSAP)

zz The National Animal Care Program (ACP)

zz The Provincial Bio-Security Program 

These programs ensure BC chicken growers continue 
to produce a high quality and a safe source of locally 
grown chicken for the Canadian consumer.  

Our Board

During 2016, there were changes to the makeup of the 
Board.  The Board appointed non-voting member Mr. 
Mark Driediger, who admirably filled the vacancy due 
to the leave of absence of Mr. Kerry Froese, whose term 
expired March 2016.  The Board would like to thank 
both Kerry and Mark for their contributions of time and 
effort to the industry and wish them the best in their 
future endeavors.  

An election in March 2016 was held to fill the vacancy.  
It was the Board’s first opportunity to institute its FIRB 
approved electronic voting/mail-in ballot method 
using the Council of Marketing Boards (COMB) as the 
election officer.  Mr. Ray Nickel was elected to fill the 
three (3) year term which will expire in March 2019.  

On September 1, 2016 Greg Gauthier left his 
appointment to the BCCMB to take a position as the 
appointed Chair of the BCBHEC.  During his 6 years 
with the Board, Greg served as Vice Chair, CFC alternate 
director for BC, Chair of the BCCMB finance committee 

Left to right:  Ralph Payne, Bill Vanderspek, Derek Janzen, Robin Smith, Ray Nickel, Alistair Johnston4 M A R K E T I N G  B O A R D
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and led the BCCMB 2012 strategic planning process.  
We will miss Greg’s many contributions to the Board 
and the chicken industry, but wish him well in his next 
adventure.  

On September 15, 2016 by Order-In-Council #641 Mr. 
Robin Smith was reappointed as a member and Chair 
of the BCCMB for a 3 year term ending September 30, 
2019.  Also on September 15, 2016 by Order-in-Council 
#462 Mr. Ralph Payne was appointed a member of the 

BCCMB for a 2 year term ending September 30, 2018.  
Ralph comes to us after a stint as the appointed Chair 
of the BC Turkey Marketing Board. 

Our Staff

Several changes was made to staff in 2016.  After 25 
years of service, Production Coordinator Carol Blatz 
retired on January 29, 2016.  We wish Carol the best in 
her well-deserved retirement.  Arlene Oslie has been 
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promoted to the position of Production Coordinator. 
Erica Driesen joined the staff as our new Administrative 
Assistant and is the friendly voice you will hear when you 
call the Board office.  On January 1, 2016 Shawn Mallon 
was promoted to the position of BCCMB Manager of 

Administration.  In addition to his previous duties, 
Shawn will have direct oversight and responsibility for 
BCCMB Accounting, Reception and Production/Quota 
Management functions.  

Many thanks to BCCMB staff members Christine Rickson, Kathy Erickson, Yvonne Wallace, Arlene Oslie, Kira 
Harrison, Jason Maarhuis, Cheryl Davie, Shawn Mallon and Erica Driesen for their continued hard work and 
dedication.

Back Row from Left to Right- Arlene Oslie, Christine Rickson, Kathy Erickson, Cheryl Davie, Kira Harrison
Front Row from Left to Right- Jason Maarhuis, Erica Driesen, Shawn Mallon, Yvonne Wallace

Bill Vanderspek
Executive Director
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REPORT FROM THE 
CHAIR
It is my pleasure to update the chicken industry on the 
completion of initiatives that I introduced in 2016.  This 
includes the supervisory review, new entrant grower 
program, the strategic plan, the pricing review and 
changes at the Board.  

Supervisory Review on 
amendments to the CFC Operating 
Agreement 

A supervisory review was initiated in 2016 by FIRB to 
review the Board’s request to sign the amendments 
to the CFC Operating agreement.  FIRB received all 
submissions in writing and in June rendered its decision.  
The decision was to approve the Board signing the 
amendments and for FIRB to add its signature.  The 
Quebec chicken board and the Regis, their supervisory 
agency, are expected to sign the agreement early in 
2017.  

New Entrant Grower Program

The Board implemented a review of its new entrant 
program for mainstream growers.  Consultations 
were held with existing and prospective new entrants 
and with the Board’s Pricing and Production Advisory 
Committee (PPAC).  It was determined that the current 
incentive quota of 11,189 kg live weight per 8 week 
cycle was insufficient for many to invest and to remain 
in the industry at the conclusion of the 10 year quota 
vestment period.  The entry level for all new entrants 
has now been increased from 11,189 kg to 20,000 kg live 
weight based on the standard 8 week cycle.  Current 
mainstream new entrants below 20,000 kg were 
provided the opportunity to accept incentive quota to 
bring their quota holdings up to 20,000 kg per 8 week 
cycle.  

Another amendment provides the opportunity for 
further growth by allowing a mainstream new entrant 
grower to acquire a further 20,000 kg through a matching 
program or BOGO (buy one get one).  This would provide 
the opportunity for mainstream new entrant growers 

to acquire up to 10,000 kg and have it matched by the 
Board with an equal amount of incentive quota.  If a 
mainstream new entrant took advantage of all of these 
opportunities, they could attain 40,000 kg of quota.  

These amendments are currently under appeal by the 
BCCGA and a number of specialty quota holders. 

Strategic Plan

In 2016 the Board developed a new three year strategic 
plan.  The plan was finalized in early 2017 after extensive 
consultation with industry.  The new vision is “leading 
a healthy growing and profitable BC chicken industry”.  
The new plan will appear on the Board website in the 
New Year.  

The purpose or mission of the Board is “to regulate 
pricing and production of BC chicken while meeting 
consumer expectations including animal care and 
on-farm food safety; and working with industry as we 
grow the market”.  Both the vision and purpose make 
reference to the chicken industry; it is the Board’s vision 
to ensure that all sectors of the industry, both growers 
and processors, are profitable and growing in concert.  
Although there are natural tensions among the sectors 
from the chick suppliers to the consumer, the industry 
can only be successful if we work together with trust 
and transparency.  

Pricing Review

The Board initiated a review of the FIRB mandated 
pricing formula that has been in place since 2010 
following a supervisory review of price setting.  The 
FIRB mandated formula was based on the weighted 
average of the posted prices set by Ontario, Manitoba, 
Saskatchewan, and Alberta plus a BC differential of 4.35 
cents per kilogram live weight.  The formula worked 
reasonably well until the Chicken Farmers of Ontario 
introduced pricing based on a new cost of production 
(COPF) in 2013.  At that point prices dropped significantly 
as the cost of production was based on Ontario cost 
inputs (which for many elements are lower than in 
BC).  Also it included an efficiency factor by dropping 
off the 10% highest cost producers and it builds in an 
annual efficiency factor based on changes in volume 
of production.  The BCCMB does not challenge the 
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Ontario COPF as it is built on Ontario costs but it does 
not account for the higher cost components in BC such 
as feed and chicks.  

The principle followed in reviewing the pricing formula 
was that it should provide the opportunity for a fair return 
to producers and allow processors to be competitive in 
the domestic market.  We operate in a supply managed 
system, a system granted by governments to ensure 
stability in the industry.  This is not a right but a privilege.  

The Board places significant emphasis on what Central 
Canada, particularly Ontario, does with pricing due to 
the fact that Ontario and Quebec are the largest chicken 
producers in the country, the largest holders of TRQ and 
importers of fowl meat, the largest further processors 
and base their prices on the Ontario cost of production 
formula.  Thereby the Central Canada price, based on 
the Ontario COP, affects the competitive position of the 
BC industry.  

There are no barriers to the movement of fresh or 
further processed chicken among provinces other than 
price and supply.  Product moves to areas of demand 
and live price is a very important factor to the end 
buyer.  It is particularly important for further processed 
products where Ontario and Quebec have advantages 
over BC because of their lower live price and their high 
volume of imported chicken, be it TRQ or fowl meat.  
BC further processors have to compete in this national 
market even though BC’s live price and costs are higher.  
The point is that the Board has to take into account 
the prices in Ontario in the setting of prices in BC even 
though our input costs are higher.  

The process for reviewing the current BC pricing formula 
was fairly straightforward, but unfortunately lengthy.  
However, the Board considered that this review was 
critically important and required fulsome input. The 
Board received and analyzed extensive documentation 
and recommendations from both the growers and 
processors Associations.  The Board conducted its own 
independent review and held further consultation with 
industry.  On March 1, 2017 the Board presented to 
the PPAC its determination of a new methodology for 
pricing that takes into account higher cost inputs in BC.  
It is anticipated that the PPAC will consider the Board’s 
recommendation and either accept the methodology or 
respond with some modifications or differing options.  

Board Membership

I would like to take this opportunity to welcome Mr. Ray 
Nickel who was elected to the Board in March 2016 for 
a 3 year term and Mr. Ralph Payne who was appointed 
to the Board in September 2016 for a two year term.  
We would like to thank Mr. Greg Gauthier whose 6 year 
appointed tenure with the Board ended in September.  
We wish Greg the best and thank him for his service.  

Robin Smith
CHAIR
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STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT
The Board engages with direct industry participants, 
other regulated marketing agencies and other groups 
with interest in the BC chicken industry for input and 
feedback using a number of mechanisms.

The Board continues to attend meetings whenever 
schedules permit with:

zz BC Chicken Growers Association (BCCGA) Directors

zz Lower Mainland BCCGA grower meetings

zz Interior division of the BCCGA grower meetings

zz Vancouver island division BCCGA growers meetings

These allow the Board to provide and receive direct 
face-to-face feedback in emerging industry issues on 
a regional basis, and allows the Board to engage in 
consultation prior to managing change in the industry.  

Additionally, the Board continues to hold one of its 

regular Board meetings in the Interior and Island region, 
providing growers with the opportunity to meet with the 
Board to discuss individual concerns without having to 
travel to Abbotsford.  The meetings are generally held 
in conjunction with regional BCCGA meetings which are 
then attended by the entire Board.  The Board continues 
to hold, at a minimum, a yearly specialty meeting with 
the growers and processors who produce specialty 
chicken.  

The Board has instituted formal meetings with the 
BCCGA Directors.  The meeting dates for 2016 were as 
follows:

zz January 29, 2016

zz May 12, 2016 

The Board has instituted formal meetings with the 
members of the Primary Poultry Processors Association 
of BC (PPPABC).  The Board also meets with processors 
collectively or individually as required to discuss items 
of mutual interest and concern.  Direct communication 
with processors continues between the Board or staff 
prior to and as a part of the national allocation setting 
process.  
The meeting dates for 2016 were as follows:

zz January 5, 2016

zz May 25, 2016

zz September 9, 2016

The Board meets with the BC Broiler Hatching Egg 
Commission (BCBHEC) on a regular basis to discuss 
areas of mutual interest and concern.  The Executive 
Directors of the two commodity Boards meet on an 
informal basis often.  The full update to the linkage was 
completed and instituted in A-136.  

The Board continues to communicate electronically 
with all industry partners via monthly Board reports.  
Statistics are also delivered through the quarterly 
BC Chicken Fact sheet.  Communiques are sent on 
an as needed basis.  Current and past reports can 
be accessed on the public side of the website at  
www.bcchicken.ca Growers without internet access 
continue to be provided with the reports via fax or by 
Canada Post.  

Hatching
Egg Producers

Hatcheries

Regulated
Sectors

• BCFIRB
• COMB   
• COGA

BCCMB
• PPAC
• SMAC

Consumers 
and Public

• CFC
• FPCC
• SM4/5

Chicken
Processors

Chicken
Growers
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The Board staff continues to participate in various 
outreach programs to engage with and educate the 
public.  Staff again participated with the chicken industry 
to operate the Poultry in Motion trailer at various 
agriculture events, including the PNE.  Staff continues 
to give presentations respecting supply management 
to first and second year agriculture students at the 
University of the Fraser Valley.  

Communication also occurs through the various 
committees of the Board such as the Pricing and 
Production Advisory Committee (PPAC) and the 
Specialty Markets Advisory Committee (SMAC) which 
are comprised of grower and processor representatives 
appointed by the Board.  The Board receives written 
input from the respective committees after every 
meeting in the form of draft minutes and/or a letter 
from the committee Chair summarizing the meeting, 
and emerging issues.  When required, briefing notes are 
prepared by staff and circulated to the committee for 
advice and input prior to the meeting.  All documentation 
arising from and presented at the committee meetings 
is forwarded to the Board to assist the Board in making 
its decision.  

PRICING AND 
PRODUCTION ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE (PPAC) 
REPORT
The Board established PPAC pursuant to Section 3.20 
of the BCCMB Scheme, composed of 3 Growers, 3 
Processors, and 1 Broiler Hatching Egg Producer. All are 
appointed by the Board after consultation with their 
respective Associations. Alternate members and the 
independent Chair are appointed by the BCCMB. 

We had a few changes to our committee this past year. 
Blair Shier, JD Sweid Foods, replaced Ken Thorpe, 
Superior Poultry, and Kerry Towle replaced Paul 
McCartan from Sofina Foods. We thank Ken and Paul 
for their valued contributions to PPAC.  In addition we 
added Mark Bartel and Raymond Bredenhof as Grower 
Alternates, and Mark Driediger as a non-voting organic 
member. All BCCMB members may attend on occasion.

PPAC met in person on 4 occasions and once by 
conference call to discuss various issues such as:

Density Requirements:
It was unanimously recommended to the Board that 
the density requirement contained in the General 
Orders be increased to 35.5 kg per square meter.  PPAC 
would review after 6 periods, after which the PPAC may 
recommend the density requirement be increased to 38 
kg per square meter.  

The first part of the recommendation has come to pass, 
the Board amended the density requirement to 35.5 kg 
per meter squared effective in quota period A-129.   

Options to deal with continued 
allocations beyond 100% pro-rata 
in the mainstream sector:
PPAC reviewed several options provided by the Board 
for comment and input.  The PPAC recommended to the 
Board option #1, that the opportunity for a permanent 
pro-rated increase in quota holding be provided to all 
mainstream growers at a percentage to be determined 
to the Board.  The Board would also give consideration 
to a minimum increase to assist small growers, along 
with a restriction to straight pro rata increase for growers 
who have transferred quota within the last X number of 
years.  

This recommendation was not acted on by the Board, 
as it awaits the outcome from BCFIRB respecting its 
quota assessment tools review.  

Organic Issues:
It was noted that the Board on April 4, 2016 amended the 
over and under tolerances for certified organic chicken 
from 6% to 10% for a 6 cycle trial period. The trial period 
commenced with shipments in A-136 (March 20, 2016).  

PPAC recommended amending the inside and 
outside densities for certified organic production to 
be consistent with those contained in CFIA National 
Organic Standard.  The General Orders were amended 
to reflect this change.  

Organic growers requested to have annualization be 
looked at again by the BCCMB staff rather than using 
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a period-by-period compliance. They also requested 
to have the sleeves be 10% over and under production 
along with annualization rather than period-by-period 
compliance.  The Board denied this request.  

Live pricing for organic chicken continues to be set by 
the Board at 100% of the Serecon cost of production for 
the period, unless varied by exceptional circumstances.  

BC Formula for the Pricing of Live 
Mainstream Chicken:
By way of a letter dated June 20, 2016, the Board 
advised PPAC they had determined that is was time 
to review the current pricing formula that has been in 
place for over five years.  Any changes to the existing 
model will require consultation with PPAC and approval 
of BCFIRB.  The Board requested written submissions 
by the interested parties and expect to undertake the 
review of all submissions by January 17, 2017. 

PPAC two period Pricing Agreement 
October 28, 2016:
The grower and processor members of PPAC 
negotiated a bridge two period pricing agreement 
which will be in effect for periods A-140 and A-141. 
The agreement calls for a differential of $0.0571 cents 
per kilogram over the weighted average prices of 
Ontario, Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Alberta. This 
represents an increase of $0.0086 over the negotiated 
$0.0485 differential that has been in place for the past 
several years.  The above agreement provides for a 
continuation of all caveats related to catching costs 
and chick servicing costs found on the pricing orders 
for A-139 and prior.  This bridging agreement should 
provide stability until the Board completes its pricing 
model review early in 2017.  

I am pleased to have served as the PPAC Chair for the 
past two years. The commitment by the members, the 
Board and Staff are commendable and all work hard to 
ensure positive and sustainable results. Thank you.

Karen Landon
PPAC Chair

SPECIALTY MARKETS 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
(SMAC) REPORT
The Board constituted SMAC with the purpose to 
provide advice to the Board on matters related to the 
specialty sector, and provide a forum whereby the 
specialty sector can discuss areas of mutual interest 
and concern.  I am pleased to report all Committee 
members met 5 times, face-to-face, to discuss pricing 
and issues related to cost of production (COP).  SMAC 
consists of 3 specialty growers, 3 specialty processors, a 
BCCMB member, and a Chairperson.
The Board appointed Ray Nickel to replace Greg 
Gauthier, and Ralph Payne as the Alternate. We thank 
Greg Gauthier for his valued contributions. In addition, 
at the request from the BCCGA, the Board appointed 
Trevor Allen as an observer to the SMAC.  SMAC 
addressed the following issues and opportunities 
during fiscal 2016:

TC COP:
zz In January 2016, the committee was updated on 

the progress of a complete update to the existing 
Taiwanese Chicken (TC) Cost of Production (COP).  
SMAC recommended to the Board they continue 
to price TC chicken at 100% of COP less 8 cents/kg 
in every age category for the period until the COP 
update was concluded. 

zz After reviewing Serecon’s amended and adjusted 
TC COP, SMAC unanimously endorsed the revised 
COP formula and recommended to the Board for 
their approval in time for the A-139 allocation.  The 
changes are to the TC COP are as follows:

1.  The pricing categories changed to four from the 
previous version of three.  The categories are 
now based on breed designation rather than 
age of flock.  

2. There are 3 Age Groups for each category that 
contain price adjustments for shipments that 
occur outside of the range that the actual COP is 
based on, the middle price for each category. 

3. Each Category is based on the nomenclature 
used in the approval list of breeds in the Chicken 
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Farmers of Canada Policy. Example: Shondon or 
Hong Kong Golden (TC). 

It should be noted that while the updated TC COP 
formula was unanimously supported by SMAC, 
there was a difference of opinion on the percentage 
of the COP that should be used to set the TC prices 
going forward.  This discussion will continue at the 
SMAC in the New Year.  

Silkie Chicken
SMAC continues to review Serecon’s updated COP for 
each pricing period and to date have unanimously 
recommended to the Board a price based on 100% of 
Serecon’s updated pricing formula.

Density Calculations
After lengthy discussions as to how calculations are 
done, and taking into consideration ACP requirements 
and the possibility of more utilities, SMAC recommended 
to the Board, that a one year trial period (A-143 to A-148 
inclusive), all specialty chicken growers be permitted 
to apply to increase their stocking density to 32.5 kg 
live weight per square meter (3.02 kg live weight per 
square foot), provided growers meet the high density 
requirements under the ACP Program.  This request will 
be dealt with by the Board early 2017.  

Marketing Committee 
The processor members of SMAC all agreed to establish 
a Processor Marketing Committee and have been 
working on this project during fiscal 2016. 

SMAC had another busy and productive year, and I 
am very pleased to be a part of a committee that is 
dedicated and willing to work together to maintain and 
grow the Specialty Market.

Our thanks to the BCCMB & Staff for their support and 
extra efforts this past year.  

Karen Landon
SMAC Chair 

MANDATORY INSURANCE 
REVIEW COMMITTEE 
(MIRC)
In response to industry requests to provide legal clarity 
around the authority of Boards and Commissions 
established under the Natural Products Marketing (BC) 
Act (NPMA) regarding mandatory disease requirements 
and given the impact and effects of the 2014/15 Highly 
Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) outbreak, the BC 
Ministry of Agriculture amended the NPMA during 
the Spring 2015 Legislative Session.  The poultry 
Boards and Commission are now enabled to consider 
establishing disease insurance requirements as part of 
their Schemes by way of amendment to their General/
Consolidated Orders.

BCFIRB has stated that the Boards and Commission 
must “determine in the first instance, through a 
demonstrated SAFETI based approach – the information 
they require to make decisions that are in compliance 
with their Scheme and in accord with sound marketing 
policy”.  BCFIRB indicated that prior approval would 
be required if a Board or Commission were to want to 
establish mandatory disease insurance requirements.

The Ministry of Agriculture considers that Notifiable 
Avian Influenza (NAI) discovery has shifted from being 
an “if” to a “when” occurrence and should be looked 
at from the perspective of “how to build the response 
into industry practice”.  There is an expectation 
that the Boards and Commission would actively 
consider establishing mandatory disease insurance 
requirements.  The Ministry also indicated that the 
ability to access Agri-Recovery for a subsequent NAI 
outbreak was not guaranteed, given its objective to 
cover exceptional events not previously covered by the 
program.

During the fall of 2015, each of the four feather Boards 
independently determined the need to make a 
decision on whether or not to proceed with pursuing 
the implementation of mandatory disease insurance.  
In November 2015, the four Boards met to discuss the 
matter and determined there was value in working 
collectively and collaboratively to address the question 
of mandatory disease insurance.  A work plan has been 
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developed (available at www.bcchicken.ca) outlining 
the information to be gathered as well as the key 
questions to be answered as part of the review.

The Boards and Commission have established 
a Steering Committee to oversee the work.  The 
committee members include:

zz Broiler Hatching Egg Commission – Allan Cross and 
Stephanie Nelson and Greg Gauthier

zz Chicken – Bill Vanderspek and Ray Nickel (who 
replaced Greg Gauthier) 

zz Eggs – Amyn Alibhai and Katie Lowe (who replaced 
Dwight Yochim)

zz Turkey – Michel Benoit

zz BC Poultry Association – Ravi Bathe and Garnet 
Etsell

Allan Cross replaced Greg Gauthier as Chair of the 
Steering Committee; Christine Rickson from the BC 
Chicken Marketing Board is the Committee Secretary; 
and Michel Benoit, BC Turkey Marketing Board will 
engage consultants to conduct the work and coordinate 
with the BC Poultry Association on behalf of the Boards 
and Commission.

The Boards and Commission have agreed to engage 
Harvey Sasaki, Agri-Saki Consulting Inc. to manage the 
implementation of the work plan and complete the 
work in key phases under the direction of the Steering 
Committee, including the preparation of the submission 
to BCFIRB.

Information and reports on each phase of the work 
plan activities will be posted to each of the Board’s and 
Commission’s website as they are completed.

To date, direct involvement of the Poultry Boards has 
been somewhat limited; much of the planning and 
discussion related to AI insurance has been conducted 
by the BCCGA and BCPA.  FIRB has indicated that 
it expects Boards to become involved and play a 
pivotal role in the future direction of the AI insurance 
project.  FIRB has been very clear indicating that the 
responsibility for the final decision on whether or not 
to proceed, whether the captive insurance model is 
the correct option, and to ensure concept of principle 

based regulation (PBR) and outcome based decision 
making through SAFETI (Strategic, Accountable, Fair, 
Effective, Transparent, Inclusive) initiatives are being 
exercised and rests with the Poultry Boards as first 
instance regulators.  

The Natural Products Marketing (BC) Act (NPMA) has 
been amended to provide the legislative authority for 
commodity Boards to require mandatory insurance, 
and the implementation comes under the direction of 
Marketing Boards.  

The first meeting of Mandatory Insurance Review 
Committee (MIRC) was held November 12, 2015.  Arising 
from that meeting, the BC Poultry Association (BCPA) 
was invited to participate on the committee.  Further 
meetings have been held in 2016, in January and in April 
and October.  All feather Boards have approved a work 
plan and posted on their websites for grower input/
comment/feedback in February 2016.  Only 1 response 
was received.  The committee expects additional input 
from industry as it goes through the steps in the process.  

By way of letter dated March 15, 2016, FIRB has 
emphasized the need for a timely process in light of 
reaching a solution prior to the fall of 2016 when the risk 
of avian influenza once again increases.  The committee 
responded by way of letter on April 26, 2016 to FIRB and 
promised “best efforts” to shorten the timeframe for the 
work plan, but cautioned that with such an ambitious 
work plan and allowing sufficient time for consultation, 
review and comment may restrict advancing the 
timelines.  

The delay in making progress was primarily caused in 
the wait for CFIA to update its loss compensation model.  
CFIA has indicated that the new model will eliminate 
capital costs, bringing the return back to pre-2004 
formula levels; creating a gap.  The group decided to 
narrow the focus on mandatory insurance for Cleaning 
and Disinfecting (C&D) only, rather than compensation 
for grower losses.   The group agreed to continue to work 
towards fair and reasonable compensation from CFIA, 
but not make it part of the mandatory insurance review 
at this time.  The C&D costs will be defined, and then 
determine what it means to all industries, which will in 
turn facilitate the individual Boards making a decision 
respecting participating in an insurance program to 
cover C&D costs.  The first report was made available to 
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industry for review and feedback December 23, 2016 
with subsequent reports to be posted by the end of 
January 2017.  

Updates and reports will be found on the feather Board’s 
websites.  For the BCCMB, go to www.bcchicken.ca and 
look under “Industry News” – also reminders will appear 
in the monthly Board reports as required reminding 
grower to check for additional updates.  At the end of 
the process, the Board decision will be posted for a 
minimum of 30 days, after which time the committee 
will compile any input, address any issues or concerns 
raised prior to finalizing the joint submission to FIRB.  

ADMINISTRATIVE 
PENALTIES FRAMEWORK 
FOR NPMA
In March 2015, the NPMA was amended by government 
to provide all regulated Marketing Boards with enhanced 
authority to make bio-security programs mandatory.  
The March 2015 changes also provide the Boards the 
power to apply administrative penalties (to a maximum 
of $10,000.00 payable to the provincial government’s 
consolidated revenue fund) to mandatory bio-security 
programs.  These sections have not yet come into 
force.  Once cabinet passes the applicable regulation, 
the Boards will have the authority to establish policies 
and procedures, subject to prior approval from FIRB, 
which will enable them to effectively and accountably 
impose administrative penalties for failure to comply 
with mandatory bio-security program requirements.  
These penalties are in addition to the Board’s powers of: 
production penalties, licence suspension and licence 
cancellation.  

The purpose of administrative penalties is to provide 
an immediate, graduated and progressive enforcement 
tool where it is not practical or proportional for the 
Board to suspend or cancel a grower’s licence for a less 
severe infraction.  

A working group of Board staff & Board members from 
all commodities; FIRB and Ministry of Agriculture staff 
was established in early 2016 to develop a framework 
using FIRB’s principle based regulation approach and 
SAFETI principles.  The framework in its draft form (draft 

1.0) has gone to the Ministry and then been updated 
to reflect Ministry feedback including good practice 
guidance and greater procedural details to endure it 
achieves legislative intent and addresses key policy 
gaps.   Once Ministry is satisfied that they have all the 
information needed to go to Cabinet, the working group 
will be reconvened to review the framework and discuss 
content details.  The framework will remain a draft until 
the working group signs off on “draft 2.0”.  After that 
time FIRB will initiate formal ratification process with 
the Boards and Commissions.  This process will extend 
into 2017.  

Once the framework has been ratified and entrenched 
in the NPMA, a Board may decide not to utilize 
administrative penalties for mandatory bio-security 
programs, but must provide sound justification for that 
decision.  

INDUSTRY SATISFACTION 
SURVEYS
The Board continued to have the Council of Marketing 
Boards (COMB) conduct satisfaction surveys with 
growers, hatcheries and processors.  The survey ran 
from October through November.  COMB provides 
the online survey to all commodity Boards and 
ensures confidentiality.  This is the third year the 
Board has conducted the survey, and the Board has 
noted declines in satisfaction in certain measures of 
information communication, policies and operations.  
The survey results and comments provided by industry 
respondents were carefully reviewed by the Board and 
will be taken into consideration for future planning and 
decision making.  

APPEALS AND LEGAL 
ACTION
Wingtat Game Bird Packers

Wingtat Game Bird Packers appealed a decision of 
the Board regarding the level of payment ordered to 
a grower for a shipment to the processor that was 
designated as a Disaster Flock under Part 31 of the 
August 26, 2011 BCCMB General Orders.  Wingtat 
subsequently withdrew their appeal.  
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Neil Tebrinke dba Mountainview Acres

Neil Tebrinke dba Mountainview Acres appealed a 
decision of the Board to suspend his licence to produce 
the regulated product for one period for a second 
infraction of the same provisions of the August 26, 2011 
BCCMB General Orders.  The BCFIRB panel found in 
favor of the BCCMB and the appeal was dismissed in 
March 1, 2016.  

Processors appeal MOU

The Primary Processors Association of BC (Hallmark 
Poultry, Sunrise Farms, Sofina Foods and Farm Fed) 
appealed the decision of the Board to sign the MOU at 
Chicken Farmers of Canada respecting the Long Term 
Allocation Agreement.  Processors in Manitoba and 
Saskatchewan had also filed appeals in their respective 
provinces, which were subsequently withdrawn in both 
provinces.  

BCFIRB held the appeal in abeyance while undertaking 
a Supervisory Review, with the expectation to complete 
the review and render a decision by June 2016.  Written 
submissions were received from the BCCMB, BCCGA, 
PPPABC, Alberta Chicken Producers (ACP), Chicken 
Farmers of Saskatchewan (CFS) and Chicken Farmers of 
Canada (CFC).  BCFIRB published its final decision on 
the matter June 30, 2016.  The summary of the decision 
is as follows:

1. On January 26, 2016 the BC Farm Industry Review 
Board (BCFIRB) initiated a review of the Chicken 
Board’s January 15, 2016 request for approval 
under s. 4.02 of the British Columbia Chicken 
Marketing Scheme, 1961 to sign the amended 
Schedule “B” Operating Agreement of the Federal-
Provincial Agreement for Chicken. The review 
included an examination of the issues identified 
by the Primary Poultry Processors Association of 
BC (PPPABC) in its appeal of the agreement in 
principle (precursor to the amended Operating 
Agreement) originally filed in 2015.

2. BCFIRB, as a signatory to the Operating 
Agreement, is also required to make its own, 
independent determination as to whether it will 
sign the amended Operating Agreement.

3. BCFIRB conducted its review through a principles/
outcomes-based approach using SAFETI1. As 
required by s. 9 of the Natural Products Marketing 
(BC) Act (NPMA), BCFIRB must find that the 
proposed amendments are authorized by 
governing legislation, regulations and agreements 
and are in accord with “sound marketing policy”. 
The panel reviewed the proposed amendments 
to the Operating Agreement alongside 
submissions received from stakeholders and 
related background information in light of these 
requirements.

4. Following a fulsome consideration and based on 
the rationale set out in this decision document, 
the panel is satisfied that moving forward with 
the proposed amendments to the Operating 
Agreement for the short-term is strategic and 
accords with sound marketing policy. BC benefits 
from being part of a cooperative system, and 
although the outcomes may not be ideal, on 
balance the amendments are a step forward in 
ensuring federal legislative requirements are met 
and supports Alberta’s re-entry to the Federal-
Provincial Agreement.

5. The panel cannot predict with certainty the 
full effects on the industry of the proposed 
amendments to the Operating Agreement over 
the next ten years. Hence establishing ongoing 
monitoring and reporting against industry 
supported performance measures will be key in 
ensuring national and provincial responsiveness to 
changing markets.

6. BCFIRB gives its prior approval for the Chicken 
Board to sign the amended Operating Agreement 
in its current form no earlier than July 15, 2016.

7. BCFIRB will sign the amended Operating 
Agreement in its current form no earlier than July 
15, 2016.

8. The Chicken Board and PPPABC are to 
constructively engage with each other and 
their western counterparts to evaluate options 
for changes to the Market Development Policy 
and other options identified in the PPPABC final 
submission.

9. The Chicken Board is to monitor and publically 
report on the outcomes of the amended Operating 

1 Strategic, Accountable, Fair, Effective, Transparent, Inclusive
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Agreement as part of its annual reporting cycle. 
Processors and further processors and other 
stakeholders are expected to engage with the 
Chicken Board as appropriate in developing 
performance measures and providing data.

10. As a signatory, BCFIRB expects the annual CFC 
review under s. 10.01 of the amended Operating 
Agreement will be based on performance 
measures developed in cooperation with 
stakeholders and publically reported (including to 
all signatories).

On July 19, 2016 FIRB published an order dismissing 
the appeal filed by the PPPABC from the decision of the 
BCCMB to sign the MOU to support the new allocation 
agreement and policy agreement which had been 
put in abeyance while FIRB conducted a Supervisory 
Review.  On July 27, 2016 BCCMB Chair signed the MOU, 
which had been signed earlier in the week by BCFIRB 
Chair Mr. John Les.  All parties to the MOU have now 
signed except Quebec.  

Fairline Development 

One of Fairline’s other creditors (Lloyd Investment Ltd) 
sought an order of conduct of sale of a Fairline property 

against which our judgment was registered.  They 
applied to have their contractual entitlement to interest 
at 10% be included in their redemption amount.  It 
appears unlikely that unless the property sells for much 
more than expected, that the Board could possibly 
recover anything once the other creditors ahead of us 
has been paid.  Judge Leask in BC’s Supreme Court 
ruled against the order of conduct of sale, so that the 
creditor (Lloyd Investments) could not recover more 
funds that previously stated. The Board was awarded 
$2,500 in costs.  The sale of the property has been 
completed, Lloyd Investments (the largest creditor) has 
been paid out.  The remainder of the funds were paid 
into court subject to a determination, at a later time, as 
to priority.  The Board should know sometime in 2017 if 
the Board will recover any further funds. 

Results of Differential Growth 
Allocation Agreement

In November 20, 2014 Chicken Farmers of Canada 
announced the signing of a new allocation agreement 
that would allocate 55% of future growth based on 
provincial comparative advantage factors, such as 
population growth, income-based GDP, consumer price 
index, farm input price index and quota utilization.  For 
BC, the amount of growth that is allocated based on 

Period Start Date End Date  Pro Rata KG  (evis)  Actual  KG (evis) Difference in Growth KG   
A127 08-Nov-14 27-Dec-14                22,191,334                    22,023,559             167,775 

A128 28-Dec-14 21-Feb-15                22,414,634                    22,238,884             175,750 

A129 22-Feb-15 18-Apr-15                23,446,011                    23,260,229             185,782 

A130 19-Apr-15 13-Jun-15                23,848,395                    23,640,237             208,158 

A131 14-Jun-15 08-Aug-15                23,430,485                    23,244,475             186,010 

A132 09-Aug-15 03-Oct-15                22,821,648                    22,635,828             185,820 

A133 04-Oct-15 28-Nov-15                23,681,702                    23,356,951             324,751 

A134 29-Nov-15 23-Jan-16                23,085,959                    23,006,831               79,128 

A135 24-Jan-16 19-Mar-16                24,015,610                    23,803,366             212,244 

A136 20-Mar-16 14-May-16                24,639,378                    24,399,703             239,675 

A137 15-May-16 09-Jul-16                24,801,531                    24,400,889             400,642 

A138 10-Jul-16 03-Sep-16                24,510,177                    23,874,018             636,159 

A139 04-Sep-16 29-Oct-16                23,985,994                    23,796,768             189,226 

A140 30-Oct-16 24-Dec-16                24,103,214                    23,899,948             203,266 

Total 3,394,386

Data Source: Chicken Farmers of Canada
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comparative advantage factors is less than would have 
been allocated under the former pro-rata agreement.  
To date, the total difference between pro-rata growth 
and actual growth (in kilograms) of allocation is 
3,394,386 KG (evis).  

CFC MARKET 
DEVELOPMENT (MD) 
PROGRAM REVIEW

Part 1 – Market Development

The Board staff and PPPABC worked together to provide 
CFC with proposed amendments to the MD policy.  The 
joint submission arose from the quarterly meetings 
between the Board and PPPABC.  The CFC reviews the 
MD policy every October.  The Board/PPPABC joint 
submission was made on October 6, 2016 and went 
to the CFC Policy Committee for consideration.  The 
Board and PPPABC received a response from CFC on 
December 12, 2016.  None of the BC Board/Processors 
joint recommendations respecting MD were adopted at 
CFC.  

Part 2 – Specialty 

In July of 2016, CFC determined that the specific class 
of specialty chicken be identified on a going forward 
basis on all supporting documentation including but 
not limited to invoices, processor slaughter report, 
certificate of condemnation, any other documentation 
pertaining to specialty allocation, chick placement 
reports reported to provincial commodity Boards.  The 
rationale for the change was to assist CFC auditors in 
identifying classes of chicken.   

ELECTION RULES
As mentioned previously under the “Who We Are” 
section, Ray Nickel was elected using the new voting 
method of mail-in or online balloting, with the results 
being revealed at the 2016 BCCGA AGM being held at the 
1st Joint Poultry Conference.  

The next iteration of FIRB mandated consultation 

process for the BCCMB election rules is slated to occur 
in 2017, for use in the 2018 and 2019 elections.  

PRODUCTION 
TOLERANCE SLEEVES
The decision of the Board on September 16, 2015 
was to amend the tolerance sleeves for RWA chicken 
(regular broilers raised without the use of antibiotics, 
not certified organic chicken) for a trial period of 6 
periods commencing in A-133 and ending at the end 
of shipments for quota period A-138.  Shortly thereafter 
the Board amended the motion to permit certified 
organic the same increased tolerance sleeve for the 
same trial period.  At the conclusion of the trial period, 
the Board reviewed the results and requested input 
from processor and growers producing RWA and 
certified organic chicken on their progress in reducing 
the challenges related to organic and RWA production 
in the past year.  As a result of the consultation, the 
Board extended the trial period an additional 3 periods 
(A-139, A-140 and A-141).  

RWA WHOLE FLOCK 
MORTALITY
This includes only birds raised without antibiotics. 
Overall we have seen a slight decrease in the average 
whole flock mortality this year. These graphs represent 
mortality levels over an entire year. Please note that we 
have used the difference between the number of birds 
placed and the payable birds shipped for the “Average 
Whole Flock Mortality” graph. Condemns that are not 
deducted from growers and DOA’s will be included. The 
numbers from the “Average First Week Mortality” graph 
come from the BC111 Form that each grower sends in 
seven days after placement.

RWA Definition

In a communique dated August 5, 2015, the Canadian 
Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) formally changed the 
definition of “Raised without the use of Antibiotics” also 
known as RWA.

Chemical coccidiostats are now allowed to be used 
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for products labelled with this claim.  Examples of 
chemical coccidiostats include Deccox, Clinacox, 
Aoamix, Stenerol, Bicarb and Robenz among others.  
Ionophores such as Monteban, Maxiban, Bio-Cox etc. 
continue to not be allowed as part of the RWA claim.  

With this change, the Canadian definition is now very 
close to being consistent with the US definition.  The 
only difference is that under the US “Never Ever #” 
program, they are allowed to use ionophores if they 
receive special allowance from the US government 
and the product is labelled as “ionophores” were 
used as coccidiostats to prevent parasitism.  This does 
not appear to be a very appealing label on a finished 
product, and to the Board’s knowledge there was no 
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use of these products in 2016; therefore, this change 
effectively allows access to the same products being 
used to produce RWA in the USA.  The Board would like 
to take this opportunity to thank its Federal partners for 
making this change happen.  
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WHOLE FLOCK 
MORTALITY
This includes all bird types (Specialty, Organic, 
Mainstream and Raised Without Antibiotics).

In both the “Average First Week Mortality” and the 
“Average Whole Flock Mortality” graphs below the 
mortality is steadily getting lower by each period. The 

mortality seems to be improving compared to last 
year’s data. These graphs represent mortality levels 
over an entire year. Please note that we have used the 
difference between the number of birds placed and 
the payable birds shipped for the “Average Whole Flock 
Mortality” graph. Condemns that are not deducted from 
growers and DOA’s will be included. The numbers from 
the “Average First Week Mortality” graph come from the 
BC111 Form that each grower sends in seven days after 
placement.
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VISION
The most proactive, dynamic and sustainable Chicken 
Industry in Canada.  

MISSION
Work with the Value Chain to optimize e�iciency and 
delivery to consumers; 

Engage stakeholders to gain their trust and confidence; 

Strengthen our Social Licence;

Implement policy in a timely manner.

•  Work with provinces to develop 
a solution to the di�erential 
growth issue within the National 
framework.

•  Grow Mainstream Market.
•  Grow Specialty Market.
•  Grow Export Market.
•  BC Allocation Strategy.
•  Increase per capita 

consumption in BC.

•  Support Grower Performance.
•  Timely Development of 

E�ective Policies.

•  Publish & Share the Vision and 
Strategic Plan.

•  Manage Stakeholder 
Expectations and Engagement.

•  Improve Communications.

•  Consumer Expectations and 
Values.

•  Consumer Expectations on 
Health Issues.

•  Consumers Expectations on 
Animal Care.

•  Develop Chicken Industry Story.
•  Better informed consumers on 

how the Supply Management 
System works.

Consumer Focused, Value Chain Driven. 

Confident and secure every chicken 
product grown and processed in BC 
is safe and risk free of health issues.

Our social licence empowers us to 
build openness, trust and common 
goals with our stakeholders.

Innovative with respect to farm 
practices and sustainability issues; 
Innovative with respect to value 
added products; 
Proactive to lead change in the 
marketplace.

Chicken Growth
of 10% within the 
National Supply 

Management
System

Optimize System 
E�iciencies

Stakeholders 
Committed to 

Vision, Direction 
and Programs

Strengthen Social 
Licence

TASK Date for completion
Review of Mission, Purpose, 
Values, Guiding Principles & Goals

July 14, 2016

Consultation of BCCMB strategic 
goals
• Processor meetings
• BCCGA meetings
• Other stakeholders

October 15, 2016

Posting of Draft Strategic Plan on 
website for comment period

Oct 30 – Nov 30, 2016

Board review all input December 31, 2016

Board finalizes Strategic Plan January 17, 2017

Below is the current version of the Board’s Strategic 
Plan which is in its final year.  
The BCCMB 5 year Strategic Plan was unveiled to 
growers in 2013. 

STRATEGIC PLAN
In 2016, the Board completed a series of meetings 
with the facilitator assisting the Board in the creation 
of a new 3 year strategic plan.  The mission, purpose, 
values and guiding principles can be found at the 
start of the annual report. To the right is the timeline 
for consultation comment on the draft strategic plan 
– specifically its mission, purpose, values, guiding 
principles and goals.  

It is important that the BCCMB Strategic Plan is reflective 
of industry concerns.  The Board met with the BCCGA 
and processors to discuss the proposed strategic 
plan’s goals and how they may impact growers and 
processors.  The Board looks forward to receiving input 
from all interested parties and finalizing the plan early 
in the New Year.  
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BC FORMULA FOR 
THE PRICING OF LIVE 
MAINSTREAM (REGULAR 
BROILER) CHICKEN
By way of letter dated June 20th, the Board as part of 
good governance and sound marketing policy had 
determined that is it was time to review the current 
pricing formula that has been in place for over 5 years.  
The Board had no preconceived outcomes on the issue 
of pricing and is not contemplating change unless 
the review and industry consultation supports it.  Any 
changes to the existing model will require consultation 
with PPAC and approval by BCFIRB.   

The Board requested written submissions from the 
PPPABC, BCCGA and other interested parties by 
September 30, 2016.  This deadline was extended to 
October 15th at the request of one of the parties.  A 
further extension was given to mid-November and 
another to mid-December.  All submissions were 
posted on the BCCMB website (grower side only) after 
the final submission was received.  Interested parties 
have been provided with an opportunity to comment 
on the posted submissions.  

During the time period October 1 to December 9, the 
Board met with interested parties to discuss their 
submissions and obtain clarification as required. The 
Board also conducted additional research and analysis 
independent from what was submitted by the BCCGA, 
the PPPABC and others for the review during this interim 
period.  Ference and Company was commissioned to 
provide an independent analysis of the submissions 
received and to update the previous BCCMB report 
entitled “Economic Analysis to Develop a Pricing Model 
for Live BC Grown Chicken.”

It was the intention of the Board to then undertake a 
review of all submissions and documents and provide 
a decision on the BC pricing formula for regular broilers 
no later than January 17, 2017, but due to the delays 
in receiving the submissions, the Board will not have a 
decision until later in 2017.  The Board is cognizant that 
BCFIRB requires full consultation, and a comprehensive 
SAFETI based rationale to accompany any decision 

which will reflect the principle of sound marketing 
policy.  
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COMMODITY 
& SYSTEM 
MANAGEMENT
PRICING (MAINSTREAM)
Regular Broilers

Mainstream chicken (regular broiler) pricing is done 
using a BCFIRB ordered formula every 8-week period.  
The formula is based on the weighted averages of 
Ontario, Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba plus a 
differential of 4.35 cents (unless otherwise agreed to by 
PPAC).  The PPAC on November 24, 2015 successfully 
negotiated a multi-period pricing agreement 
continuing the 4.85 cent/kg differential from A-134 to 
A-139 (shipments the end of October 2016) inclusive.  

A-140 at the end of the year was successfully negotiated 
by the PPAC with the differential at 5.71 cents per 
kilogram live weight with the caveats from the previous 
pricing agreement remaining in effect.  The PPAC also 
negotiated the same agreement for quota period 
A-141, which commences on December 25, 2016 and 
continues into the year 2017.  

The General Orders contain the formula and provide for 
rules allowing the Board to vary the price for exceptional 

Mainstream Posted Live Price ($/kg live weight)
Province A-135 A-136 A-137 A-138 A-139 A-140 Difference (Jan - Dec)

BC  $1.5981  $1.6128  $1.5912  $1.6259  $1.6467  $1.5917  $(0.0064)

Alberta  $1.5755  $1.6000  $1.5790  $1.6130  $1.6320  $1.5700  $(0.0055)

Saskatchewan  $1.5715  $1.5762  $1.5579  $1.5928  $1.6209  $1.5630  $(0.0085)

Manitoba  $1.5893  $1.6041  $1.5736  $1.6153  $1.6478  $1.5630  $(0.0263)

Ontario  $1.5150  $1.5280  $1.5070  $1.5410  $1.5600  $1.4980  $(0.0170)

Quebec  $1.5350  $1.5480  $1.5270  $1.5610  $1.5800  $1.5180  $(0.0170)

NB  $1.6180  $1.6310  $1.6100  $1.6440  $1.6630  $1.6010  $(0.0170)

NS  $1.6180  $1.6310  $1.6100  $1.6440  $1.6630  $1.6010  $(0.0170)

Average  $1.5776  $1.5914  $1.5695  $1.6046  $1.6267  $1.5632  $(0.0143)

circumstances.  At the bottom of the page is the live 
pricing for regular broiler chicken across Canada for the 
year 2016.  

Certified Organic Pricing

The Board on August 14, 2015 informed the PPAC that 
effective with the start of A-133, the Board would set 
the organic live price each period for certified organic 
chicken at 100% of the COP unless varied by exceptional 
circumstances request as per Schedule 2 Section 7 
Variation for Exceptional Circumstances of the August 
26, 2011 BCCMB General Orders.  This practice will 
remain in effect until such time as another method can 
be established that provides transparent, defendable, 
sustainable and predictable results.  The PPAC was 
tasked with discussing the issue and providing input 
and advice to the Board.  

Below is the 2016 prices for certified organic chicken for 
the province of British Columbia:  

Organic Posted Live Price - 2016
Period Organic
A-135  $4.1600 

A-136  $4.0600 

A-137  $3.9500 

A-138  $3.8800 

A-139  $3.8500 

A-140  $3.9300 
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PRICING SPECIALTY 
CHICKEN
Pricing for specialty chicken includes several Asian 
chicken varieties.  Asian chicken is chicken of a distinct 
genetic strain designated by the Board and includes 
Silkies and Taiwanese chicken.  The breeds currently 
being grown in BC and approved by CFC are:  Silkies, and 
Taiwanese style chicken.  The full list of CFC approved 
breeds are found below:

Pricing for Specialty Chicken - 2016   
(kilograms live weight)
Period Silkie
A-135  $4.0300 

A-136  $4.0300 

A-137  $3.9800 

A-138  $3.9800 

A-139  $4.0200 

A-140  $4.0200 

Taiwanese Chicken

During 2016 the SMAC negotiated an 8 cent reduction 
in every category for TC chicken until such time as 
the TC COP was updated.  This continued for most of 
2016 as Serecon Consulting worked on completing 
the TC grower surveys.  Once completed, the cost of 
production formula was endorsed by the members of 
the SMAC and passed by the directors of the BCCMB.  
The TC COP was last fully updated 5 years ago, and 
since that time there has been a number of changes 
in the program such as breeds, time to market, feed 
conversions and others.  

The COP for TC chicken was endorsed by the Board for 
use in quota period A-139 (commencing September 
4, 2016).  The pricing categories were changed to four 
from the previous version that had three.  Additionally, 
there are now three age groups for each category that 
contain price adjustments for shipments that occur 
outside of the range that the actual COP is based on, 
the middle price for each category (which is shown 
in the table below).  Each category is based on the 
nomenclature used in the approved list of breeds in the 
CFC Specialty Chicken Policy.  This was done to assist 
the proper tracking of each placement and shipment 
as well as ensuring that CFC is able to audit program 
compliance at the Board office.  

See next page for 2016’s prices as negotiated at the 
SMAC for TC chicken.  

ANNEXE 4 DU RÈGLEMENT SUR  
L’OCTROI DE PERMIS VISANT LES 

POULETS DU CANADA
(ARTICLE 1)

CLASSES DE POULET DE SPÉCIALITÉ

1. Poule-soie

2. Hong Kong Golden

3. Loong Kong TC

4. Bradner Long Cycle TC

5. Bradner Special Duals (Short Cycle TC)

6. VSB

7. Mt. Lehman

8. Blue Leg Taiwanese

9. Shondon TC

10. Frey’s Special Dual Purpose

Note : Le poulet de spécialité qui relève de l’une des classes 2 à 10 est 

commercialisé avec la tête et les pattes.

SCHEDULE 4 OF CANADIAN  
CHICKEN LICENSING REGULATIONS

(SECTION 1)

CLASSES OF SPECIALTY CHICKEN

1. Silkie Chicken

2. Hong Kong Golden

3. Loong Kong TC

4. Bradner Long Cycle TC

5. Bradner Special Duals (Short Cycle TC)

6. VSB

7. Mt. Lehman

8. Blue Leg Taiwanese

9. Shondon TC

10. Frey’s Special Dual Purpose

Note: Specialty chicken in classes 2 to 10 must be marketed with the 

head and feet attached.

ANNEXE 4 DU RÈGLEMENT SUR  
L’OCTROI DE PERMIS VISANT LES 

POULETS DU CANADA
(ARTICLE 1)

CLASSES DE POULET DE SPÉCIALITÉ

1. Poule-soie

2. Hong Kong Golden

3. Loong Kong TC

4. Bradner Long Cycle TC

5. Bradner Special Duals (Short Cycle TC)

6. VSB

7. Mt. Lehman

8. Blue Leg Taiwanese

9. Shondon TC

10. Frey’s Special Dual Purpose

Note : Le poulet de spécialité qui relève de l’une des classes 2 à 10 est 

commercialisé avec la tête et les pattes.

SCHEDULE 4 OF CANADIAN  
CHICKEN LICENSING REGULATIONS

(SECTION 1)

CLASSES OF SPECIALTY CHICKEN

1. Silkie Chicken

2. Hong Kong Golden

3. Loong Kong TC

4. Bradner Long Cycle TC

5. Bradner Special Duals (Short Cycle TC)

6. VSB

7. Mt. Lehman

8. Blue Leg Taiwanese

9. Shondon TC

10. Frey’s Special Dual Purpose

Note: Specialty chicken in classes 2 to 10 must be marketed with the 

head and feet attached.

ANNEXE 4 DU RÈGLEMENT SUR  
L’OCTROI DE PERMIS VISANT LES 

POULETS DU CANADA
(ARTICLE 1)

CLASSES DE POULET DE SPÉCIALITÉ

1. Poule-soie

2. Hong Kong Golden

3. Loong Kong TC

4. Bradner Long Cycle TC

5. Bradner Special Duals (Short Cycle TC)

6. VSB

7. Mt. Lehman

8. Blue Leg Taiwanese

9. Shondon TC

10. Frey’s Special Dual Purpose

Note : Le poulet de spécialité qui relève de l’une des classes 2 à 10 est 

commercialisé avec la tête et les pattes.

SCHEDULE 4 OF CANADIAN  
CHICKEN LICENSING REGULATIONS

(SECTION 1)

CLASSES OF SPECIALTY CHICKEN

1. Silkie Chicken

2. Hong Kong Golden

3. Loong Kong TC

4. Bradner Long Cycle TC

5. Bradner Special Duals (Short Cycle TC)

6. VSB

7. Mt. Lehman

8. Blue Leg Taiwanese

9. Shondon TC

10. Frey’s Special Dual Purpose

Note: Specialty chicken in classes 2 to 10 must be marketed with the 

head and feet attached.

Silkie Chicken

The following is 2016’s prices as negotiated at the SMAC 
for Silkie chicken
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Pricing for Specialty Chicken 
(kilograms live weight)

TC
Period Category 1

up to 82
days of age

Category 2
83 to 110
days of age

Category 3
over 110
days of age

A-135  $2.6311  $2.8465  $3.0437 

A-136  $2.6311  $2.8465  $3.0437 

A-137  $2.5839  $2.7976  $2.9881 

A-138  $2.5839  $2.7976  $2.9881 

TC

Period Loong 
Kong

Bradner 
SD

Bradner 
Long 
Cycle

Shondon or 
Hong Kong 
golden

A-139*  $2.59  $2.65  $2.79  $2.57 

A-140*  $2.59  $2.65  $2.79  $2.57 

* = different COP with different categories

LEVIES
Levy collection is done as per the General Orders.  
Processors collect levies from growers and remit them 
to the Board.  Self-marketers remit levies directly to 
the Board.  Levies are used to fund Board activities and 

Levy Rates (cents/kg)
Province Provincial 

Levy
CFC 
Levy

Total
levy

BC 1.37 0.53 1.90

Alberta 1.22 0.53 1.75

Saskatchewan 1.41 0.53 1.94

Manitoba 1.50 0.53 2.03

Ontario 1.60 0.53 2.13

Quebec 1.53 0.53 2.06

NB 0.56 0.53 1.09

NS 0.95 0.53 1.48

PEI 1.00 0.53 1.53

NFLD 1.06 0.53 1.59

Source:  CFC effective January 14, 2016

operations as per the BC Chicken Scheme (1961).  Below 
is a comparison of levy rates across Canada for 2016:
Levy distribution is as per the 2017 Operating Budget 
(see next page) illustrating the percentage of levies used 
on various budget items. 

Sales Growth of "GROWN IN BC"
Chicken in Millions of Kilograms (Evisc Wt.)

1986

1989
1992

1995

1998

2001

2005

2008 2011

1983

2004*

2014

2016

37,791,890 kg

49,435,000 kg

62,730,000 kg

74,356,000 kg

100,233,058 kg

117,669,877 kg

141,059,793 kg

120,464,614 kg

154,374,498 kg

157,383,944 kg 155,079,027 kg
160,944,862 kg

166,932,390 kg

*(avian influenza)
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
Operating Budget 2017
Revenue  
Levies 4,465,000

Licenses 7,500

Permits 4,000

Domestic lease fees 24,000

Interest 58,000

Other 85,583

Total Revenue 4,644,083

Expenses  

Audit, Legal, Consulting 215,000

BCCGA operating grant 683,155

Board member expenses 420,000

CFC Levy 1,245,500

Rent 116,691

Salaries and benefits 1,013,100

Operations 1,035,780

Depreciation 21,000

Total Expenses 4,750,226

Deficit -106,143

5%0.4%
14%

9%

26%2%

21%

22%

Audit, Legal,
Consulting

BCCGA
Operating Grant

Board Member
Expenses

Salaries
& Benefits

CFC Levy

Rent

Operations

Depreciation

FISCAL MANAGEMENT
The Board has a BCCMB Board Policy Manual, which 
is updated on an “as needed” basis and is reviewed 
annually.  It contains information such as BCCMB 
Financial Controls and Procedures; covering a wide 
range of topics such as cheque issuance and signing 
authority, monthly Board financial statements, Board 
operating and capital budgets, petty cash control, 
Board remuneration policy, travel and expense policy, 
and insurance policies.  The BCCMB Financial Controls 
were last amended on October 29, 2013.  The newly 
updated policies are circulated to Board members for 
inclusion in their copy of the policy manual.  

The Board has as its external auditor MNP LLP, an 
independent firm of Chartered Accountants, which 
is appointed by the members to audit the BCCMB 
financial statements and report directly to them.  The 
external auditors have full and free access to, and 
meet periodically and separately with, the finance 
committee, the entire Board and management to 
discuss their audit findings.  MNP also presents the 
audited year-end financial statements to the chicken 
growers at a meeting in May or June and answers 
questions regarding the statements.  

MNP provides the Board with a management letter upon 
the completion of the year-end audit which identifies 
any matters that may be of interest to management in 
discharging its responsibilities.  The letter also notes 
whether the suggestions presented in the management 
letter were addressed from the prior year.  

The BCCMB General Orders require that a request for 
proposals (RFP) for audit services is circulated every five 
years.  This process is intended to keep these services 
current and effective.  The current five year cycle will 
completed in 2018.  MNP has been selected as the 
Boards external auditor until the end of 2018.  

BC Chicken Growers Association 
(BCCGA)

The BCCGA was incorporated under the Society Act of 
BC to unite the commercial chicken growers in working 
for the betterment of the chicken industry, and to act 
as a liaison between chicken growers and marketing 
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Boards, industry and government.  The BCCGA receives 
virtually all of its funding from the BCCMB.  As part of 
the Rainbow et al decision of FIRB in 2014, the Board 
continues to apply rigor and formal oversight to funding 
the activities of the BCCGA and by reviewing the BCCGA 
financial statements quarterly.  

The BCCGA has contracted a full time year round 
Poultry in Motion coordinator and driver for the Lower 
Mainland and Fraser Valley.  Kelsey Schuurman has an 
extensive background in agriculture and the BC Dairy 
classroom.  The BCCGA intends to substantially increase 
its outreach with this program.  

NEW QUOTA ISSUANCES 
TO GROWERS IN 2016
The Board conducted a full review of the New Entrant 
Program for growers in 2016 in order to assess the 
success of the current program in meeting the objective 
of encouraging new chicken growers to the industry in 
today’s environment.  The results of the consultation 
resulted in a revamping of the NEGP which was rolled 
out in November by way of letter to the affected parties.  
The changes to the General Orders were circulated to 
industry via Canada Post for inclusion in their General 
Orders binder.  

The decision of the Board was to increase the entry level 
of incentive quota for mainstream growers from 11,189 
kg to 20,000 kg per cycle for new growers entering the 
industry under the NEG program effective November 10, 
2016.  Current growers under the program below 20,000 
kg were granted incentive quota up to the maximum 
of 20,000 kg.  The deadline to have sufficient space is 
December 1, 2017 or incentive quota will be forfeit.  

Further, the Board established a program to allow new 
and existing mainstream NEG under this program to 
participate in a matching program.  The growers may 
purchase up to a maximum of 10,000 kg of quota from 
an existing quota holder, which will be matched by the 
Board up to a maximum of 10,000 kg.  The deadline to 
have purchased quota and provided sufficient space for 
both purchased and incentive quota is January 1, 2020.  

All incentive quotas will be tied to the region in which 
they were issued as well as being subject to Part 35 

Declining Quota Transfer Assessment rules.  Specialty 
growers are excluded from the offer, at this time.  The 
NEG Program for specialty growers will be reviewed at 
such time as growth in the specialty sector warrants it.  

The rationale of the Board was to increase the financial 
viability of the new entrant growers.  The “buy one get 
one” concept is designed to encourage new entrant 
growers to invest in the industry and to grow their 
operations beyond the new 20,000 kg entry level.  
Increased NEG levels and the opportunity to increase 
over time to 40,000 kg per cycle will, in the view of 
the Board, reduce the tendency of small new entrant 
growers to cash out upon maturity.  The planned 
increases in production will assist both new entrant 
growers, regional processors and regional infrastructure 
such as feed suppliers and hatcheries in achieving 
sustainable economies of scale.  Additionally the 
increase will initially transfer an additional 130,000 kg 
per period and potentially a further 200,000 kg from the 
density of the Lower Mainland to the outlying regions of 
the province.  

Below is an update of the activities related to the 
tenth full year of New Entrant Grower Program quota 
issuances under Part 49 New Entrant Program for 
Growers of the August 26, 2011 General Orders.  

Under the methodology contained in Schedule 9 (Part 
49) (Section 49.21) and retracted under Part 35 Quota 
Transfer Assessment the Board deemed a total of 82,325 
kilograms of quota to be available for distribution to 
qualifying new and deemed new entrant growers in 
2016. Distribution of the available quota was as follows:

Region Type   # kgs Balance
82,835

Interior Mainstream 4,965 77,870

Interior Mainstream 7,288 70,582

Interior Mainstream 3,984 66,598

Interior Mainstream 8,811 57,787

Interior Mainstream 8,811 40,165

Interior Mainstream 7,855 32,310

Interior Mainstream 286 32,024

Island Mainstream 8,811 23,213

L Mainland Mainstream 6,316 16,897

L Mainland Mainstream 20,000 -3103
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Using the methodology contained in Part 49 New 
Entrant Program for Growers of the General Orders 
the BCCMB has determined the available kilograms of 
quota for distribution to qualifying new entrant and 
deemed new entrant growers in 2017 as follows:

zz 116,191 kilograms = 5% of quota transfers based 
on a 3 year rolling average

zz Minus 3,103 kilograms over allocated in 2016

zz 113,088 kilograms available for distribution in 
2017

The BCCMB remains committed in 2017 to its New 
Entrant Grower Program that is intended and designed 
to address the needs of regional and specialty 
production and processing.  The Board anticipated the 
majority of the available quota in 2017 will be taken up 
by existing new entrant growers increasing to the new 
entry level of 20,000 kg and those taking advantage of 
the “buy one, get one” provision of the amended new 
entrant grower program. 

GENERAL ORDERS 
UPDATES
The BCCMB General Orders were last fully updated 
August 26, 2011.  The Board now posts proposed 
amendments on its website at www.bcchicken.ca on 
the home page under “Industry News”.  The purpose of 
this is to allow for a 30 day written comment period prior 
to the Board approving the amendments.  Notice of 
proposed amendments usually appears in the monthly 
Board reports as well.  

In 2016 amendments were circulated to industry 
in March, May and December.  These amendments 
include:

zz An amendment effective with the start of quota 
period A-137 (May 15, 2016) requiring all farms have 
washroom facilities be made available for all field 
service representatives including catching and 
chick delivery crews working on the farm site.  

zz An increase to the maximum stocking density from 
32.5 kg per square meter to 35.5 kg per square 
meter effective for quota period A-139 (shipments 

September 4, 2016) for mainstream growers.  This 
change was unanimously recommended by the 
PPAC and endorsed by the Board.  Any grower 
wishing to become qualified must complete extra 
steps under the ACP program to move to a density 
greater than 31 kg per square meter.  Any grower 
achieving certification will be eligible to receive the 
increased density for the next unallocated period.  

zz Amending the definition of New Entrant Grower 
(NEG) and Deemed New Entrant Grower (DNEG) 
to reflect the new entry level of incentive quota 
for mainstream growers from 11,189 kg per cycle 
to 20,000 kg per cycle effective November 10, 
2016.  Mainstream growers below this level were 
also afforded the opportunity to reach the new 
maximum of 20,000 kg by providing sufficient space 
by December 1, 2017.  

As per the BCCMB Strategic Plan, a full update of 
the General Orders commenced late in 2016.  The 
completion of the update was delayed to allow for 
changes to the Live Pricing Methodology, changes to the 
NEG program and FIRB review of the quota assessment 
tool.  

In a move towards a paper-less Board Office, new 
binders will NOT be sent to industry upon completion of 
any proposed amendments.  Instead they will be posted 
on the website.  A full copy of the General Orders can be 
downloaded from the website including additions.  The 
General Orders will contain the date of the most recent 
update on the front cover.  

2015 OPERATING SURPLUS
On June 28, 2016, in accordance with Part 15 
Distribution of Board Operating Surplus of the August 
26, 2011 BCCMB General Orders the Board declared an 
operating surplus for the fiscal year 2015 in the amount 
of $843,525.00 which is available for distribution to 
qualifying growers.  

Part 15 of the General Orders requires that growers “be 
in good standing” and be a current grower at the time 
that the distribution is declared.  By way of letter dated 
August 9, 2016 all registered growers were informed 
that they had until 4:00 p.m. on September 9, 2016 to 
be in compliance with the General Orders to qualify for 
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a portion of the surplus.  Growers not in good standing 
with the Board were advised of the action required to 
bring them into good standing. Board staff distributed 
the cheques towards the end of September 2016.   

GROWER DASHBOARD
The Grower Dashboard will provide BC Chicken 
Growers the ability to record their barn daily checks as 
well as audit information on a web-based database. 
The database will then populate required forms, report 
individual flock performance and benchmark that 
performance against industry data.

Developers have completed their work on the off-
line support that will allow growers, without internet 
access in their barns, to enter in their barn daily checks 
and have that information upload to their database 
when their phone, iPad or tablet receives an internet 
connection.

In January 2017, BCCMB staff completed instructions 
for the off-line support section of the dashboard and 
emailed them to the BCCGA Directors for testing. BCCMB 
staff will collect Directors feedback the beginning 
of March, have the necessary changes made to the 
dashboard and prepare to launch the dashboard to all 
growers beginning of April 2017. Stay Tuned!

WEBSITE
In September, the BCCMB launched an updated 
website at www.bcchicken.ca  that is more compatible 
for mobile phones and tablets.  At the same time, the 
content was refreshed by rewriting some sections in 
plain language and simplifying the layout.  

LINKAGE
Serecon Consulting completed the grower interviews to 
calculate the relative recovery costs for each commodity 
(BCCMB/BCBHEC) as it related to the live price of 
chicken in December of 2015 after delays arising from 
the December 2014 AI outbreak in the Fraser Valley.  The 
most recent full update was completed in time for use 
in quota period A-136.  The update resulted in a 1.51 
cent increase in the cost of day old broiler chicks.  The 

BCCMB and BCBHEC have signed an MOU agreeing that 
the information will be updated on a three year basis 
going forward.  

MONITORING AND 
ENFORCEMENT ISSUES
The Board in February 2016 by way of the monthly Board 
report, clarified the sections of the General Orders that 
refer to “personal exemption”.  

Part 1 Definitions of the August 26, 2011 BCCMB 
General Orders states: “personal exemption” 
means chicken used for home consumption in the 
amount not exceeding 200 birds per calendar year.

Part 2 Exemptions of the August 26, 2011 BCCMB 
General Orders states in Section 2.1(b):  These 
General Orders apply to all chicken except:  “chicks 
that are sold to a grower for production of chicken 
on the grower’s premises and for consumption on 
the grower’s premises not exceeding 200 chickens 
per calendar year”.

A registered grower wishing to produce chicken under 
this exemption must take the following steps:

1. Order extra chicks from the hatchery in the amount 
that they wish to grow for personal consumption.

2. Note on the BC 101 contract that extra chicks have 
been ordered and will be grown and processed 
for personal consumption in accordance with the 
BCCMB General Orders.

Chicken grown for personal consumption must be 
planned in advance and noted on the BC 101 contract.  
All chicks ordered from the hatchery that have not been 
specified for the personal exemption must be grown 
and shipped to the processor with whom the grower 
has a signed BC 101 contract.

Please note:  The personal exemption referred to in 
Section 2.1 (b) is restricted to a maximum of 200 birds 
per calendar year for each premise registered with the 
BCCMB.
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REPORTING & 
GOVERNANCE
ORGANIZATION 
OF GOVERNANCE 
CONTROLS
Board Members

All Board members are provided with a policy manual 
containing a full complement of information required 
for them in the performance of their duties.  The 
documents are reviewed yearly and updated as 
required throughout the year.  Specific documents that 
are provided include:

Oath of Office Each new Board member, 
appointed or elected, is required to sign the Oath 
of Office document. 

Code of Conduct   All Board members are required 
to conduct themselves in accordance with the 
BCCMB Code of Conduct.  The Code is explained 
to each new member during an orientation session 
with BCCMB staff.  

Conflict of Interest Declaration  Each Board 
member is required to submit an updated conflict of 
interest declaration on a yearly basis.  On a number 
of occasions in the past year, Board members have 
declared themselves in a conflict during Board 
discussions and have recused themselves from 
discussion and voting on certain agenda items 
during Board meetings.  

Financial Controls  Policies that relate to Board 
members such as expense claims, travel policy, 
and per diem rates are provided and fully explained 
to each member of the board.  The controls are 
updated yearly after receipt of the management 
letter from the external auditor upon completion of 
the year-end financial statements.  The last update 
to the written policies occurred in October 2013.  

Board Member Evaluation  Each year the Board 
completes a performance evaluation, through the 
auspices of the BC Council of Marketing Boards 
(COMB).  The last one was completed in November 
2016.  

The job descriptions of the appointed Chicken Board 
Members as developed by the provincial government’s 
Board Resourcing and Development Office (BRDO) 
were published on the BCCMB website for the first time.  
BRDO is responsible for establishing guidelines for all 
provincial appointments to agencies and ensuring that 
all provincial appointments are made on the basis of 
merit following an open, transparent and consistent 
application process.  

Staff Members

All staff members are provided with an Employee Policy 
Handbook which clearly outlines BCCMB expectations, 
policies, and benefits.  Formal job descriptions are in 
place for all BCCMB staff positions and are updated as 
required.  

ONGOING EDUCATION 
OF BOARD AND STAFF
Board and staff participate in ongoing educational 
opportunities in regard to Board management 
workshops like Centre for Organizational Governance 
in Agriculture and Accountability Framework seminars.  

Additionally, staff attended professional development 
courses in the areas of auditor certification training, 
fundamentals of pest management, and seminars 
covering euthanasia, CHEQ auditor training, PAACO 
training, Poultry Service Industry Workshops, and 
ARC mapping.  Staff also participated at processor 
sponsored grower seminars and various poultry 
symposiums offered throughout 2016 such as the 
Canadian Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Disease 
conference in Vancouver.  A staff member attended the 
BC Dieticians regional conference, handing out CFC 
materials and answered questions on how chickens 
are raised in Canada.  A staff member attended the 
National Chicken Marketing Summit in South Carolina 
to learn about the chicken industry in the USA. 
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SOCIAL LICENCE 
& STRATEGIC 
LEADERSHIP
CERTIFICATION 
PROGRAM UPDATE
Some of the activities the Board has taken to exercise 
its mandate and increase the industries social licence 
through corporate social responsibilities are through 
voluntary or required programs.  

Such required programs include nationally recognized 
programs such as the CFC On-Farm Food Safety 
Assurance Program (OFFSAP) and CFC Animal Care 
Program (ACP); and provincially required programs 
such as the BC Bio-Security Program.  These programs 
are mandatory and require continued certification.  

Voluntary programs include the Recommended Code of 
Practice for the Care and Handling of Poultry, Siting and 
Management of Poultry Barns (a fact sheet provided 
by the BC Ministry of Agriculture and Lands), and the 
Environmental Farm Plan.  In November 2016, the Board 
engaged Dr. Bill Cox to assist in the implementation of a 
study to assess the prevalence of Salmonella Enteritidis 
(SE) on BC broilers farms.  105 randomly selected farms 
will be tested when birds are between 25 and 32 days of 
age over the next 12 months by BCCMB.  The purpose of 
the study is to determine the presence of SE on broiler 
farms, and to explore the possible links to infection 
(including the prevalence of rodent and beetle activity) 
on farm, hatchery source and feed suppliers.  Growers 
testing positive will be encouraged to perform a full 
cleaning and disinfecting protocol prior to the next 
chick placement.  

The release of the revised Code of Practice occurred in 
June of 2016.  Canada’s Codes of Practice are nationally 
developed guidelines for the care and handling of 
farm animals.  They serve as a foundation for ensuring 
that farm animals are well cared for using sound 
management and welfare practices that promote 

animal health and well-being.  Codes are used as 
educational tools, reference materials for regulations 
and the foundation for industry animal care assessment 
programs.  The National Farm Animal Care Council’s 
(NFACC) Code development process used collaborative 
approach ensuring credibility and transparency through 
scientific rigor, stakeholder collaboration and consistency.  
Updates to the Poultry Code were led by a 15-person 
Code committee, comprised of poultry farmers, animal 
welfare and enforcement representatives, researchers, 
hatcheries, transporters, processors, veterinarians, and 
government representatives.  Aiding their work was a 
5-person Scientific Committee that included research 
and veterinary expertise in poultry behavior, health and 
welfare.  A public comment period was held in the fall of 
2015 to allow the public and all stakeholders to provide 
input.  

In 2016 we had a full team of auditors for the BCCMB 
with Kathy, Jason and Kira looking after the OFFSAP, 
ACP and Bio-Security Audits.  There are 358 farm 
premises (some include multiple locations per licence 
number) to audit in the province of BC.  All but 4 farm 
locations had completed their audits by the end of 
2016.  Those remaining audits were delayed due to 
unusual circumstances.  Of the farms audited in BC only 
15 farms had corrective actions that would need to be 
completed in 2017.  BCCMB issued 17 warning letters 
for overdue corrective actions and 2 penalty letters for 
250 kilogram penalty for overdue corrective actions as 
per the BCCMB General Orders.  All farms that received 
these letters completed their corrective actions shortly 
after receiving them to achieve recertification. 

The 3 most common corrective actions at the farm 
for On Farm Food Safety program and the Bio security 
program were:

1. Annual water test 118 corrective actions issued  

2. 50 corrective actions issued for incomplete 
Standard operating procedures and 

3. 45 corrective actions for rodent controls 

All these corrective actions were completed in a timely 
fashion once they were issued. The number of farms 
with corrective actions climbed a bit in 2016 and 
hopefully we will begin to see a decline again in 2017.
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CFC’s commitment to the OFFSAP and ACP program 
instituted a third party auditing of all provinces 
starting in 2016.  British Columbia received a 3rd party 
audit from Guelph Food Technology Centre (GFTC), 
this involved completing 2 shadow audits on each 
BC auditor.  The audit will ensure implementation of 
all national program requirements, and to evaluate 
auditor consistency at the provincial and national 
levels.  The 3 BCCMB auditors were shadow audited for 
2 farm audits each, for a total of 6 shadow audits.  The 
reports received from GFTC were very positive on the 
auditor’s skills and adherence to the OFFSAP and ACP 
programs.  These reports were sent to Chicken Farmers 
of Canada and Bill Vanderspek of BCCMB.

The new Code of Practice for the Care and Handling 
of Hatching Eggs, Breeders, Chicken and Turkeys was 
released in July 2016 with changes made adding some 
new highly recommended items.  With these new items 
in mind CFC will be reviewing the Animal Care Program 
to determine if changes need to be made to the program 
in the near future.

In December of 2016 auditors began testing broiler 
farms for SE (salmonella enteriditis). The swabs taken 
at the farm are sent to the provincial lab for diagnostics. 
In December 2016 four farms had been tested.  If the 
results of the swabs come back positive for SE the farmer 
will be advised that C&D (cleaning and disinfecting) 
is highly recommended for the farm.  SE testing will 
continue through 2017 with 100 farms being tested 
throughout the province to determine the prevalence 
of SE on broiler farms.  At the end of 2017 the results will 
be analyzed.

CONSUMER 
ENGAGEMENT
Poultry Conference

At the First Annual 2016 BC Poultry Conference held 
at the Westin Bayshore Hotel in Vancouver, chicken 
farmers participated in an early morning consumer 
outreach program event in cooperation with White 
Spot Restaurants, handing out free egg sandwiches 
to Vancouver city office workers on their way to work.  
Staff also assisted with and attended the inaugural 
conference.  

Farmer Profiles

Consumers not only want to know more about how 
their food is produced, they also want to ‘meet’ the 
farmers who are growing their food.  In December, 
BCCMB launched our first formal farmer profile video 
featuring the Kennedy family farm in Tappen.  We also 
did a professional photo shoot of their farm.  
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Chicken Squad Intelligence sheds light on chicken 
farming practices in BC. Follow the investigation at 

Debunking Myths.  
Uncovering the Facts.

chickensquad.ca

Chicken SquadTM Intelligence

To educate consumers on how their food is raised, the 
BCCMB created a brand new series to follow up with the 
Chicken Squad campaign.  Chicken Squad – Intelligence 
or CSI is a smarter more sophisticated division of the 
Chicken Squad brand, taking on a style inspired by the 
popular TV dramas, and appealing to a more female 
audience.  CSI used investigative journalism to answer 
consumer questions focusing on three main areas:  
antibiotics, animal care and consumer choices.  Three 
episodes were filmed, dispelling myths and answering 
questions that ranked the highest in our consumer 
surveys: antibiotic use, animal care, and choices of 
chicken.  The series will be launched in 2017.  

Social Media

BCCMB’s Chicken SquadTM 
social media channels 
continue to be an active 
source of information for 
consumers.  In November, 
we conducted a cookbook 
giveaway which helped 
to boost engagement 
and enthusiasm for our 
Facebook, Twitter and 
Pinterest accounts.  

In 2016, our Facebook ‘likes’ 
grew by 122 fans with 3,698 
engaged users, reaching 141,047 people and making 
239,825 impressions.  

In Twitter, our followers grew by about 1 per day to 
1,263, with our top three tweets receiving an average of 
232 clicks each.  

Our Pinterest account is a popular source of chicken 
recipes, with an average monthly viewership of 11,483 
and an average of 79 engaged users per month.  

Take a Bite of BC

BC Chicken Marketing Board continues to support BC 
Agriculture in the Classroom Foundation’s “Take a Bite 
of BC Program”, providing local food products to BC 
secondary schools.  Beginning with the 2016/17 school 
year, the program expanded to all schools with eligible 
culinary arts programs.  BC Chicken Marketing Board 
provides 10 fresh BC whole chickens to 56 schools two 
times a year.  Culinary arts students not only use the 
chicken to learn deboning and cutting, but also cook 
the product for serving in the cafeteria.  This year, we 
received feedback from several schools… here is one 
example: 

“It was such an amazing opportunity for the students 
to be able to cut up their own chicken, which was 
a new teaching opportunity for my classroom. 
We would have never been able to afford whole 
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chickens for each student in the past. Students broke 
down their bird into 8 parts, deboned the legs, made 
stock with the backs and then packaged and froze 
all the different parts for future use. 

Teaching Chef, Carihi Secondary, Campbell River 
BC.    ”
BC Specialty Chicken Marketing 
Campaign

In June, we received funding of up to $53,375 from 
Investment Agriculture Foundation of BC’s Buy Local 
program for our BC Specialty Asian Chicken Promotion 
to develop and promote marketing materials to 
increase consumption of specialty Asian chicken in BC.  

Supported by the Government of BC’s Buy Local Program; 
delivered by the Investment Agriculture Foundation of BC.

來自菲莎河谷的正宗竹絲雞及台灣走地雞，依照加拿大
品質標準養殖，健康又美味。

新鮮的
亞洲特色雞 ̶
卑詩省本地養殖

Authentic Silkie Chicken and Taiwanese Chicken from the Fraser Valley is healthy, flavourful, 
and raised to Canadian standards.

Fresh Asian Specialty Chicken — locally produced in BC

以下優良
BC品牌產品

於各大超市有售 
Look for these BC 

brands at your local 
grocery store.
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RESEARCH
The BCCMB currently has 2 research permits, which are 
a non-transferrable production allotment for scientific 
purposes to a maximum amount of 7,716 kg/8 week 
cycle granted by the Board for a specific calendar year, 
which may be renewed yearly.  Below are the reports 
from the two permittees.  Also included is a report from 
a researcher who received matching funds from the 
BCCMB and IAF for his research project.  

RWA Project Summary Year 1 

This project was conducted to establish management 
parameters, feed manufacture guidelines, and the cost 
of production involved in growing RWA chickens.  In all 
trials the parameters measured included feed cost, feed 
formulation, feed intake, feed conversion, water intake, 
mortality, condemns, body weight, and barn conditions.

A brief summary of each trial can be found in the 
appendices. The project data shows that RWA flocks 
have a higher cost of production due to poorer 
performance and higher input costs when compared 
with conventionally raised flocks. Management changes 
such as lighting programs and water administered 
RWA compatible products have a marked effect on 
performance and flock morbidity. Feed formulation, 
even when kept constant, does not guarantee absence 
of a significant health challenge such as coccidiosis or 
necrotic enteritis. Time of year and stocking density 
have a large impact on housing conditions.  

Reovirus and IBH complicated the results of the trials 
this year as one or both diseases was confirmed in four 
of five trials. Both diseases are immunosuppressive 
and thus compromise flock health and performance.  
The trials show that management and incoming chick 
health are critical factors in RWA performance. Further 
investigation is needed to establish cost of production 
increase, possible water and feed treatments to control 
necrotic enteritis, seasonal management changes 
aimed at controlling barn conditions.

Trial 1 
Water acidified to pH 4.5 days 1-40
AquaRush (liquid thyme) used as directed days 15-28
Birds placed at conventional density – 0.80 ft2 per bird
Litter moisture – 30% day 10
Lighting program: day 1 – 24 hrs light. Days 2-10 – 7 hrs light 
x 1 hr dark (3 cycles). Days 11-24 – 5 hrs light x 3 hrs dark (3 
cycles). Days 25-40 – 7 hrs light x 1 hr dark (3 cycles). Lighting 
program significantly slowed ADG.
Flock diagnosed with cocci, colisepticemia, IBH at day 14. 
Hydrogen peroxide used day 17 and 18 and again days 
27 and 28, 5 hours per day. 10% stock solution.  Mortality 
dropped after use.
Litter score – 4 out of 5 (with 5 being best).

Trial 2
Stocking density 1 ft2 per bird. 
As per flock 1 – same lighting program, feed formulation, 
water acidification. 
Hydrogen peroxide treatment days 11 and 12 and days 17 
and 18 – proactive procedure to theoretically lower coccidia 
and enteritis challenges. Discontinued use of AquaRush.
Day 26 – IBH and reovirus
No cocci or enteritis related mortality.
Litter score – 5 out of 5 (with 5 being best).

Trial 3
Trial 2 basis with hydrogen peroxide treatment day 1 to ship 
at 100 ppm in replacement of water acidfication.  Flock did 
not have depressed water or feed intake with peroxide at 
this level.
Day 26 –IBH and reovirus
No cocci or enteritis related mortality.
The IBH and reovirus caused significant mortality, dropped 
feed intake and therefore weight gains.
Litter score – 4 out of 5 (with 5 being best).

Trial 4 
Repeated trial 3 to confirm hydrogen peroxide efficacy.
Day 26 - Reo virus confirmation. Significant mortality, 
runting and stunting, feed intake depression which led to 
decreased ADG. 
Litter score – 3 out of 5 (with 5 being best).

Trial 5
Feed formulation changed from using Gallinat plus (a 
combination essential oil and acid product) to a Provimi 
product used with research exemption from CFIA. The 
Provimi product is a combination of essential oils which has 
shown good results in Europe as an antibacterial, antifungal 
and antiviral plant based additive. 
Chicks 37 grams at placement (2 days behind target).
Day 13 – necrotic enteritis – lost 1% per day for 7 days.  
Treated on day 8 and 9 with 20% hydrogen peroxide solution, 
5 hours per day, flushed in and out. Mortality dropped day 3 
after treatment.  It would appear that necrotic enteritis will 
continue longer than the 5 days estimated by veterinarians.
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Conclusions:
Management is a critical component. Litter depth, 
lighting programs, barn set up all play a large role in 
managing these flocks.  For example, the coccidiosis 
vaccine requires a litter moisture of 25-30% by day 10 
for the vaccine to cycle and provide immunity.  This 
moisture level is significant as barn is wet so therefore 
we are creating good growing conditions for bacteria, 
large possibility for footpad lesions from the ammonia 
and bad conditions for catching crews.
Hydrogen peroxide appears to be as effective in helping 
manage gut related challenges, economical and easier 
to manage to maintain level in drinking water. 

Viral health challenges play significant role in 
performance.  The first four flocks of the trials had IBH 
and Reovirus which makes it difficult to establish the 
costs/benefits of the RWA program. Flocks that suffer 
from these two viruses are immune-challenged which 
makes them more susceptible to coccidiosis and 
necrotic enteritis. 

As in Ontario the feed cost as it relates to feed cost 
per kg of meat is an issue. It is quite simple to add $50 
per tonne to the cost of the feed with all the different 
additives available. However if there is a significant 
health challenge the benefits of the additives and 
hence feed cost are born by the producer who will not 
see a benefit on the flock performance. The COP of 
RWA flocks is significantly higher when compared with 
conventional flocks as management needs increased, 
the utility cost is increased in order to manage barn 
conditions, and feed costs are also higher.

Submitted by Traci Wautier – Nutrichicks Feed 
Consulting – BCCMB research Permit #2016-01

Canadian Poultry Consultants Ltd – 
Dr. Ritchie 

Research Summary
Raising broilers without the use of antibiotics
zz As more companies move towards raising broilers 

without the use of antibiotics there is a significant 
need for more research on how to execute these 
programs successfully. We are developing new 
management techniques and standards to 
successfully raise RWA flocks. This research is 
focused on enhancing gut health (antibiotic 
alternatives, gastrointestinal physiology, and 
management practices) to manage diseases such 
as coccidiosis and necrotic enteritis.

zz There are numerous factors involved, including 
the importance of early feed intake and the 
establishment of a steady state eating pattern.  

zz Interactions with other pathogenic organisms may 
trigger intestinal disease and research focused 
on disease prevention strategies that allow for 
very early establishment of normal gut flora was 
initiated. 

Salmonella enteritidis
Salmonella, in particular Salmonella enteritidis, is an 
important disease-causing agent affecting both poultry 
and human health. There is literature which reports 
interactions with Salmonella enteritidis, coccidiosis 
and necrotic enteritis.  Significant effort has, and 
continues to be made to control the risk posed by 
Salmonella at all levels of the broiler and broiler meat 
processing industries. Research was initiated to help 
prevent the spread of Salmonella through the use of 
litter amendments.
 
Coccidiosis Prevention Planner©
The prevention of coccidiosis and necrotic enteritis 
in all commercial broiler farming systems requires 
short, medium and long term planning strategies.  
These intestinal diseases are prevented through an 
understanding of the various interactions between the 
chicken, the environment and the causative agents.  
Disciplined coccidiosis prevention strategies are very 
effective in minimizing the significant negative impact 
associated with coccidiosis and necrotic enteritis, 
not only on performance, but also on welfare, health, 
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antibiotic resistance and food safety.  Disciplined 
coccidiosis and necrotic enteritis strategies are also 
extremely important for the long term sustainability 
of the various additives currently permitted for use in 
the feed. We are researching and developing a new 
computer-based Coccidiosis Prevention Planner© 
(CPP) to provide easy access to a library of information 
relative to available coccidiostats, antibacterial, 
and other custom ingredients. The CPP output also 
produces an annual “cocci wheel” allowing the user 
to efficiently archive and share planning and results 
in an easy to interpret multidimensional diagram. In 
the future, this new tool will help with the successful, 
long term management of coccidiosis. The CPP will 
be evaluated as a tool to guide and record disease 
prevention decisions. 

Darkling beetle trial
Darkling beetles can act as reservoirs and vectors of 
disease for a number of important poultry diseases and 
as the intermediate host for various parasites. Darkling 
beetles can also transmit a number of food-borne 
pathogens that are important public health concerns 
(Salmonella for example). Further research is scheduled 
to evaluate continuous dry hydrogen peroxide as a 
spatial disinfectant and insect control.

Litter enhancement procedures
New strategies for litter management are being 
developed and evaluated for their effect on 
environmental pathogen levels, overall flock health 
and performance, Salmonella enteritidis, and necrotic 
enteritis control. This research involves the acidification 
of litter and the addition of various facultative anaerobic 
spore forming bacteria (Enhanced Litter Treatment). 

Education, outreach and continuing education 
opportunities in BC where innovations and solutions 
are shared

UBC animal welfare sessions
Every year, UBC’s animal welfare class is invited to the 
research farm to discuss animal welfare and broiler 
production.

Platinum Brooding® classes
http://www.platinumbrooding.com. Forty-seven 
classes have been conducted since inception in 
415964 B.C. Inc. as well as classes at the University of 
Arkansas and the University of Georgia.  There have 
been numerous classes throughout North America and 
in Asia.

Platinum Brooding® app and dashboard
Significant resources have been spent developing 
the Platinum Brooding® App and Dashboard that 
collects, analyses and reports real-time data to improve 
performance and husbandry.  This uses the Platinum 
Brooding® Checklist© that was developed and taught 
at 415964 B.C. Inc.

BCPS (BC Poultry Symposium)
This event is held in May each year, providing an 
opportunity to share advances in research and 
development.

University of the Fraser Valley 
415964 B.C. used as an outreach and teaching facility 
for instructors and student enrolled at the university.

Submitted by George Jacob, CPA, CGA, BBA on behalf of 
415964 BC Inc. -BCCMB research permit #2069

Dr. Xiaonan Lu

Dr. Lu is currently researching the microencapsulation 
of garlic compounds and lactobacillus strains.  These 
compounds show promise to reduce the presence 
of salmonella and campylobacter contamination.  
He has successfully synthesized three garlic derived 
organosulfur compounds in the laboratory.  He plans 
on starting the chicken experiment in the spring of 2017.  
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The Chicken
Farmers of Canada
2016 REPORT TO PROVINCES
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STRATEGIC PLANNING - 
CRITICAL PRIORITY ISSUES 
FOR 2017
Spent Fowl
Deliverables:
zz Implementation of DNA tests to distinguish spent 

fowl from broiler meat

zz A Canadian mandatory certification mechanism for 
all imports of spent fowl

zz Monitoring and analysis of spent fowl imports and 
exports 

zz Canadian regulations requiring distinct labeling for 
products containing spent fowl

Antimicrobial Use
Deliverables:
zz Collection of AMU/AMR Surveillance Data

zz Collaboration with government on antimicrobial 
use regulations and initiatives 

zz International position on antimicrobial use and 
resistance in the poultry industry 

zz Education of farmers and industry on antibiotic 
reduction and the good production practices 
required for reduced use 

zz Conduct pilot projects on the impacts of antibiotic 
reduction

zz Working with the supply chain for quality results 

zz Re-assessment of the reduction strategy objectives 
and timelines

zz Promotion of the AMU Strategy 

Governance
Deliverables:
zz A Board of Directors performance assessment 

process

zz Hire a new Executive Director 

zz Committee mandates and best practices

zz A proactive professional development plan to 
enhance the capacity and effectiveness of Directors, 
Alternates and staff  

zz A five-year Strategic Plan (2019–2023)

BRANDING
Chicken Farmers of Canada Directors approved the 
launch of the “Raised by a Canadian Farmer” branding 
program in 2014, on a two-year trial basis and funded 
by the Promotion Fund. In mid-2015, Directors agreed 
to extend the branding program for another two years. 
Next steps for the brand include continuing the work 
on the original branding program, and, building on that 
strategy and successful marketing, develop three sub-
brands. Those are to represent OFFSAP, the Animal Care 
Program, and sustainability. Work on the three sub-
brands was started in late 2016.
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These sub-brands will complement and support the 
successful execution of the traditional marketing plan. 
They will serve to expand the brand strategy to include 
excellence in food safety and animal care – through 
building trust in our farmers.

NEXT STEPS FOR THE 
ANTIMICROBIAL USE 
STRATEGY
Chicken Farmers of Canada has been implementing 
a comprehensive Antimicrobial Use Strategy since 
2012, and the Board of Directors has reiterated its 
commitment to the Strategy and to working towards 
further reduction steps.

For Chicken Farmers of Canada, antimicrobial 
resistance and use has been a critical priority – as seen 
with the elimination of the preventive use of Category I 
antibiotics in May 2014. Further to this, decreasing the 
use of antibiotics of human importance continues to 
be a key component of the industry’s five-year strategic 
plan. 

Chicken Farmers of Canada Directors have now decided 
on the next steps in the Antimicrobial Use Strategy. 
The decision was made that the industry should next 
work towards reducing the preventive use of Category 
II and III antibiotics. To accomplish this, work plans on 
seven key action items have been developed, which 
will be necessary to ensure that future reduction steps 
are done successfully, while protecting bird health and 
welfare.

1. Harmonize the feed alternative regulatory process 
to ensure Canadian farmers have access to 
similar antibiotic alternative products as in other 
countries

2. Conduct pilot projects to evaluate the impact 
on bird health and mortality, the pressures on 
increased use of other antibiotics, the impact on 
therapeutic use, and to determine best practices 
for successful antibiotic reduction

3. Determine the economic costs for all of industry for 
eliminating the preventive use of Category II and III 
antibiotics

4. Provide education to producers and industry on 
antimicrobial resistance and use and the strategy 
to reduce use

5. Disseminate good production practices required 
for reduced use

6. Work with the supply chain to ensure good chick 
quality and examine different methods of reducing 
use

7. Determine a time to re-assess the reduction 
strategy in 18–24 months

This decision takes into consideration the feedback that 
was received through an industry-wide consultation. 
The majority of those consulted did not feel that the 
industry was ready to set a date for further reduction 
steps. It was felt that progress on several issues needed 
to be resolved prior to setting the implementation dates. 
The reasons for this were multi-faceted, but revolved 
heavily around the issue of the lack of availability and 
labelling for alternative products in Canada – such as 
probiotics, microbial products, and acidifiers – that 
would assist with transition.

Other concerns that were raised included the unintended 
consequences of such a ban (for example increased 
pressure on other antimicrobials and increased use of 
antibiotics for treatment that are of greater importance 
to humans), animal welfare concerns, and the lack of 
time required to perform necessary steps to meet the 
proposal. 

Antimicrobial resistance and use was again ranked as 
a critical priority for 2017 as part of Chicken Farmers of 
Canada’s annual strategic planning, which reinforces 
the level of importance that Directors continue to place 
on the above action plans. 

Communication – to stakeholders, consumers, and 
to farmers – is a key component that underscores our 
entire Strategy, and will continue to be a focus of efforts 
as the above action plans are carried out. 

Chicken Farmers of Canada recently developed short 
“whiteboard style” videos for consumer education on 
the topic, as well as an accompanying print brochure. 
These resources can be found online at http://www.
chickenfarmers.ca/what-we-do/antibiotics/.
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THE COMPREHENSIVE 
ECONOMIC TRADE 
AGREEMENT
After seven years of negotiations between Canada and 
the European Union (EU), the Comprehensive Economic 
and Trade Agreement (CETA) was finally signed on 
October 30th. This important milestone opens up the 
provisional application of the agreement due to the 
decision taken in July by the EU Parliament that the 
agreement would qualify as a “mixed agreement” and 
thus require ratification by all 28 member states before 
it can wholly come into effect; this will take a few more 
years. Until then, the provisional application covers 
approximately 95% of the agreement. 

Even provisionally ratified, the trade deal will further 
open Canada’s dairy market to European exports; 
however, CETA will have no impact on Canada’s 
domestic chicken market as it does not provide Europe 
with any additional access over and above what is 
currently provided through Canada’s commitments 
through the World Trade Organization (WTO).

2016 IMPORT CONTROL 
UPDATE 
Although the three major import control issues that 
have been plaguing the Canadian chicken sector 
unfortunately continued throughout 2016, there has 
been significant progress towards resolution on some 
fronts thanks to the diligent lobbying efforts of CFC 
Board and the ongoing collaborative work between 
CFC staff and government officials. Through the Lobby 
Day meetings and reception, staff and elected official 
presentations to the House of Commons Committees 
on Agriculture, International Trade, and Finance, and to 
the Senate Committee on Agriculture and Forestry, and 
multiple one-on-one meetings with elected government 
officials and bureaucrats, CFC has brought forward the 
sector’s concerns and recommendations regarding the 
illegal importation of broiler meat declared as spent 
fowl, the inappropriate use of the Duties Relief Program, 
and the products designed as specially defined mixtures 
to circumvent import controls. CFC looks forward to 
continuing to work with the Canadian government to 

put an end to these import circumvention practices 
that have been eroding the stability and full growth 
potential of the domestic chicken sector.

Fraudulent Spent Fowl Imports

CFC has been diligent in finding ways to stymie the 
flow of illegally imported broiler meat. In 2014, with 
CFC’s support, Trent University researchers successfully 
developed a forensic DNA test that can accurately 
verify whether a product contains chicken, spent fowl 
or a combination of both. Since then, CFC has been 
promoting this test to the Canadian Food Inspection 
Agency (CFIA), Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC) 
and Canada Border Services Agency (CBSA) as a means 
of stopping the fraudulent import activity.

This year however, the tireless efforts of both the CFC 
Board and staff started to pay off, and the resolution of 
intentionally mislabeled broiler meat imports began 
to gain traction with the genuine engagement of 
government officials and departments. 

In mid-August, CFIA announced a three-day suspension 
of three American cold storage facilities that served as 
export dispatch locations for Canada-bound spent fowl 
exports. On September 6th, one of these establishments 
was suspended until further notice. While CFIA 
confirmed that these suspension actions were related 
to irregularities with shipments not conforming with 
regulations and thus posing potential food safety risks, 
since these suspensions occurred, there has been a 
notable decline in spent fowl imports.

While spent fowl imports continued to increase 
significantly until the end of July, with imports reaching 
68.7 million kilograms compared to 52.5 million 
kilograms for the same period last year, the government 
efforts have slowed the growth in the second half of the 
year. Despite the decline in monthly imports since early 
August, the imports in 2016 still reached 99,081,599 
compared to 103,103,435 in 2015. Boneless breasts 
continued to represent 54% of all spent fowl imports, 
a significant risk for mislabeled imports. The suspected 
causal link between increased verifications and the 
suspension of a U.S. cold storage warehouse, and this 
import decline validates CFC’s suspicion of import fraud 
over the past few years.
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Misuse of the Duties Relief Program  

The Duties Relief Program (DRP) is a program 
administered by CBSA that permits Canadian processors 
to import products intended for domestic processing 
and subsequent re-export for sale in foreign markets. 
The program is designed primarily for industrial and 
manufacturing goods, and has rules that reflect the 
realities of those sectors. For instance, imported 
components can be kept in Canada for up to four years, 
and there is a permissible level of substitution with 
domestic products. In addition, meat products can be 
marinated prior to be re-exported. None of these rules 
are adequate for the Canadian chicken sector as they all 
result in market distortions. 

On November 18th, the Canadian government 
announced that the CBSA’s verifications had led to the 
identification of five companies that were not complying 
with the DRP regulations. These companies have been 
fined and had their DRP licenses suspended. 

Indeed, based on the official data released to date, the 
activity under the Duties Relief Program (DRP) slowed 
down in 2016 with 71.4 Mkg imported compared to 96.3 
Mkg last year. CBSA’s verifications, and the suspension 
of companies, coincide clearly with the reduction of 
imports through this program in the last part of the year.

The government also announced that it will be holding 
consultations on the DRP and IREP regarding potential 

changes to these programs. CFC looks forward to 
participating in these consultations, and working 
with the Canadian government to further improve the 
predictability of chicken imports. 

Specially Defined Mixtures 

The term “specially defined mixture” (SDM) refers to 
meat products that contain up to 87 per cent chicken 
and a minimum of 13 per cent of some other food 
item. The inclusion of this other ingredient re-classifies 
the meat product for import purposes. For instance, a 
package of chicken wings that also contains sauce that 
makes up 13 per cent of the overall package weight 
is usually no longer considered chicken for import 
purposes. 

This has resulted in the creation of products that have 
been designed explicitly to circumvent import controls 
and permit the influx of more foreign chicken meat into 
the Canadian market, thus displacing domestically 
produced chicken. CFC continues to take every 
opportunity to advocate that the Canadian government 
adopt the simplest solution to this problem, which would 
be reinstating the sauce and cooking requirements that 
already exist in Canada’s negotiated WTO schedule into 
the Customs Tariff. CFC looks forward to pursuing its 
ongoing work with the Canadian government to bring 
this issue to a successful conclusion. 
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 NEW POULTRY CODE 
OF PRACTICE – WHAT’S 
CHANGED? 
The new Code of Practice has been finalized and 
was released in June 2016. The Code of Practice for 
Chickens, Turkeys, and Breeders, which has been under 
review through the National Farm Animal Care Council 
(NFACC), is now complete. Because of the number of 
sectors involved, this was one of the most complex 
Code development processes completed to date for 
NFACC. 

The Code process, led by the National Farm Animal Care 
Council, sets the national standard for farmed animal 
welfare in Canada. Chicken Farmers of Canada’s Animal 
Care Program (ACP) is based on the previous version of 
the Code, and will be updated soon to be in line with 

this new Code. The Board has agreed that any changes 
required will be considered Highly Recommended for 
the ACP manual and future audits.

Here are some of the highlights of what is different 
in the new Code compared to the current ACP: Air 
Quality, Lighting, Back Up System, Stocking Density, 
Bird Monitoring & Handling, Euthanasia and Workers 
& Management Code of Conduct. While the Code 
also deals with hatcheries, turkeys, and breeders, this 
summary focuses just on the requirements for broilers.

Next Steps

Chicken Farmers of Canada is consulting with provincial 
boards, the Production Committee, and Directors as 
the Animal Care Program is updated to align with this 
new Code. 
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2016 
Provincial Quota Holdings 2016 (kgs live weight/cycle)

Lower  Mainland Vancouver  Island Interior Total

Growers Kilograms Growers Kilograms Growers Kilograms Growers % Kilograms %
Mainstream 224 26,347,212 14  543,813 49  3,493,936 287 87% 30,384,961 97%

Specialty 42  926,411 0  -   0  -   42 13%  926,411 3%

Total 266 27,273,623 14  543,813 49  3,493,936 329 100% 31,311,372 100%

% 81% 87% 4% 2% 15% 11%

2,000 bird 
(annual)  
Permit Holders

40 53 87 180

We have 328 Registered growers as 4 growers hold both Mainstream and Specialty Quota.

Total Provincial Production (kilograms live weight)
Year Type Domestic Market Development Total

2016 Mainstream  211,311,153  9,449,214  220,760,367 

   Broilers  206,538,475  8,016,307  214,554,782 

   Organic  4,772,678  1,432,907  6,205,585 

Specialty  5,784,389  574,142  6,358,531 

    TC  5,309,671  -    5,309,671 

    Silkie  474,718  574,142  1,048,860 

Total  217,095,542  10,023,356  227,118,898 

Year Type Domestic Market Development Total

2015 Mainstream  201,601,436  9,497,752  211,099,188 

   Broilers  196,358,272  9,404,770  205,763,042 

   Organic  5,243,164  92,982  5,336,146 

Specialty  6,150,553  388,819  6,539,372 

    TC  5,633,661  -    5,633,661 

    Silkie  516,892  388,819  905,711 

Total  207,751,989  9,886,571  217,638,560 

In 2016 BC Produced 4.36 % more than  in 2015

PRODUCTION 
STATISTICS
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Provincial Production of Chicken 2014-2016
Production from Jan. 1 to Dec. 31, 2014  - 2016 (eviscerated weight)

Province 2016 2015 16/15 2014 15/14

B.C. 167,576,405 159,637,194 5.0% 160,795,494 -0.7%

Alberta 108,128,862 101,335,140 6.7% 94,340,967 7.4%

Saskatchewan 44,440,563 41,967,153 5.9% 41,193,133 1.9%

Manitoba 48,955,020 46,433,698 5.4% 44,624,622 4.1%

Western 369,100,850 349,373,185 5.6% 340,954,216 2.5%

Ontario 376,337,984 363,452,712 3.5% 347,471,131 4.6%

Quebec 311,103,597 301,903,025 3.0% 294,817,196 2.4%

Central 687,441,581 665,355,737 3.3% 642,288,327 3.6%

New Brunswick 31,734,347 29,781,567 6.6% 29,950,530 -0.6%

Nova Scotia 39,497,596 37,409,287 5.6% 36,470,984 2.6%

P.E.I. 4,156,392 3,793,157 9.6% 3,788,682 0.1%

Newfoundland 15,648,563 14,380,109 8.8% 14,280,344 0.7%

Atlantic 91,036,898 85,364,120 6.6% 84,490,540 1.0%

TOTAL 1,147,579,329 1,100,093,042 4.3% 1,067,733,083 3.0%

2016 BC Broiler Quota Marketing Periods
Amount of quota marketings going through licence agencies in 2016:

Period Start Date End Date Mainstream Quota Utilization
A-134 28-Nov-15 23-Jan-16 101.54%

A-135 24-Jan-16 19-Mar-16 103.85%

A-136 20-Mar-16 14-May-16 110.58%

A-137 15-May-16 09-Jul-16 108.36%

A-138 10-Jul-16 03-Sep-16 104.52%

A-139 04-Sep-16 29-Oct-16 106.12%

A-140 30-Oct-16 24-Dec-16 105.91%

2016 Provincial Farm Gate Sales
Mainstream  $296,281,763.53 

Specialty (TC)  $14,984,157.05 

Organic  $24,412,771.39 

Specialty (Silkie)  $4,205,928.60 

Total  $339,884,620.57 

2016 BC Allocations received from CFC (Kg eviscerated weight)
Period Domestic (Broiler 

and Organic)
Market Development (Broiler, 
Organic and Specialty)

Specialty Allocation 
(TC and Silkie)

TOTAL ALLOCATION

A-134  23,006,831  1,346,729  633,340  24,986,900 

A-135  23,803,366  1,347,512  636,182  25,787,060 

A-136  24,399,703  1,347,512  609,093  26,356,308 

A-137  24,400,889  1,747,298  688,884  26,837,071 

A-138  23,874,018  1,736,274  718,960  26,329,252 

A-139  23,796,768  1,658,049  753,360  26,208,177 

A-140  23,899,948  1,682,745  716,202  26,298,895 

numbers provided by CFC
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Quota Utilization by Province (A-135)
A-135 (Jan 24 - Mar 19/16)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 34,769,210 34,817,447 100.1%

Alta. 22,040,396 22,425,273 101.7%

Sask. 9,156,437 9,466,282 103.4%

Man. 9,992,188 10,165,581 101.7%

Ont. 78,157,938 77,765,281 99.5%

Que. 64,375,501 64,261,794 99.8%

N.B. 6,359,888 6,359,627 100.0%

N.S. 7,957,469 8,052,863 101.2%

P.E.I. 842,118 874,099 103.8%

Nfld. 3,141,147 3,199,553 101.9%

Canada 236,792,292 237,387,800 100.3%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-136)
A-136 (Mar 20 - May 14/16)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 35,389,480 34,981,780 98.8%

Alta. 22,493,948 22,620,703 100.6%

Sask. 9,247,144 9,199,183 99.5%

Man. 10,109,867 10,003,541 98.9%

Ont. 80,140,135 79,185,965 98.8%

Que. 65,905,115 65,576,995 99.5%

N.B. 6,530,109 6,880,333 105.4%

N.S. 8,170,448 8,643,213 105.8%

P.E.I. 846,943 849,570 100.3%

Nfld. 3,211,370 3,437,668 107.0%

Canada 242,044,559 241,378,951 99.7%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-137)
A-137 (May 15 - July 9/16)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 35,716,187 35,176,654 98.5%

Alta. 22,753,435 22,639,469 99.5%

Sask. 9,200,538 9,107,634 99.0%

Man. 10,218,014 10,372,913 101.5%

Ont. 80,452,159 78,978,116 98.2%

Que. 66,109,667 65,177,158 98.6%

N.B. 6,581,065 6,390,517 97.1%

N.S. 8,256,185 8,124,411 98.4%

P.E.I. 845,516 847,503 100.2%

Nfld. 3,212,405 3,324,107 103.5%

Canada 243,345,171 240,138,482 98.7%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-138)
A-138 (July 10 - Sept 3/16)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 35,127,297 35,620,400 101.4%

Alta. 22,355,103 22,031,690 98.6%

Sask. 9,149,597 9,107,554 99.5%

Man. 10,249,477 10,247,532 100.0%

Ont. 79,889,738 78,845,800 98.7%

Que. 65,649,002 63,667,238 97.0%

N.B. 6,512,871 6,686,387 102.7%

N.S. 8,170,629 8,244,383 100.9%

P.E.I. 845,476 853,795 101.0%

Nfld. 3,204,676 3,166,348 98.8%

Canada 241,153,866 238,471,127 98.9%

The following is the Chicken Farmers of Canada 2016 total provincial quota allocation and the actual 
utilization levels (kgs live weight)

46 M A R K E T I N G  B O A R D

Source Sans Pro

2016 ANNUAL REPORT

PRODUCTION STATISTICS CONTINUED



Quota Utilization by Province (A-139)
A-139 (Sept 4 - Oct 29/16)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 35,220,090 34,792,522 98.8%

Alta. 22,160,124 22,538,529 101.7%

Sask. 9,204,644 9,172,761 99.7%

Man. 10,091,413 10,412,524 103.2%

Ont. 77,831,816 76,947,195 98.9%

Que. 64,481,407 65,470,291 101.5%

N.B. 6,282,449 6,447,127 102.6%

N.S. 7,876,129 8,065,827 102.4%

P.E.I. 851,912 855,609 100.4%

Nfld. 3,165,996 3,328,326 105.1%

Canada 237,165,980 238,033,711 100.4%

Quota Utilization by Province (TOTAL)
TOTAL (A-135 to A-140)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 210,957,932 210,057,858 99.6%

Alta. 134,682,015 135,219,500 100.4%

Sask. 55,122,080 55,470,832 100.6%

Man. 130,550,243 130,008,219 99.6%

Ont. 460,869,494 455,020,484 98.7%

Que. 331,857,136 332,369,720 100.2%

N.B. 38,547,128 39,421,329 102.3%

N.S. 48,312,497 49,527,484 102.5%

P.E.I. 5,090,224 5,158,146 101.3%

Nfld. 19,084,189 19,797,554 103.7%

Canada 1,437,718,264 1,434,260,380 99.8%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-140)
A-140 (Oct 30 - Dec 24/16)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 34,735,668 34,669,055 99.8%

Alta. 22,879,009 22,963,836 100.4%

Sask. 9,163,720 9,414,418 102.7%

Man. 9,686,602 10,070,019 104.0%

Ont. 78,177,779 76,966,769 98.5%

Que. 64,404,381 65,492,965 101.7%

N.B. 6,280,746 6,657,338 106.0%

N.S. 7,881,637 8,396,787 106.5%

P.E.I. 858,259 877,570 102.3%

Nfld. 3,148,595 3,341,552 106.1%

Canada 237,216,396 238,850,309 100.7%

Source:  CFC and AAFC (AAFC data where CFC data is incomplete)   
The Allocation information above includes all inter-provindial quota transfers and revisions to market 
development/export commitments.
Note: Allocation includes both domestic and market development. Production is all birds processed in each province.
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FILING A REGULATED MARKETING APPEAL  
WITH THE B.C. FARM INDUSTRY REVIEW BOARD
A person aggrieved or dissatisfied with an order, 
decision or determination of the following commodity 
marketing boards and commissions may file an appeal 
to the British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board 
(BCFIRB):

zz British Columbia Broiler Hatching Egg Commission 

zz British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

zz British Columbia Cranberry Marketing Commission 

zz British Columbia Egg Marketing Board

zz British Columbia Hog Marketing Commission 

zz British Columbia Milk Marketing Board 

zz British Columbia Turkey Marketing Board

zz British Columbia Vegetable Marketing Commission

What is the British Columbia Farm 
Industry Review Board? 
The British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board 
(BCFIRB) is an administrative tribunal that has statutory 
responsibility for exercising regulatory and adjudicative 
functions independent of government in its general 
supervision of BC regulated marketing boards and 
commissions and in hearing regulated marketing 
appeals and farm practices complaints.

Originally known as the British Columbia Marketing 
Board (“BCMB”), BCFIRB was created in1934 under the 
NPMA to supervise the commodity boards. Over the 
years, the role has been expanded and its authority 
redefined to address changes in the regulated 
marketing sector.

BCFIRB is composed of up to ten members appointed by 
Lieutenant Governor-in-Council (LGIC). Board members 
backgrounds vary, with experience in production, 
marketing, law and education related to agricultural 
issues.

How long do I have to appeal? 

BCFIRB must receive your written notice of appeal not 
more than thirty (30) days after the order, decision or 
determination of the commodity board or commission 
is made.

If an appeal is filed more than 30 days after the marketing 
board’s decision, the person filing the notice of appeal 
must explain what special circumstances exist that 
warrant BCFIRB accepting a late appeal (See ATA s.24).

Do I need legal counsel? 

Only if you want or think you need it. It is your decision 
to make, and you will be responsible for paying your 
own lawyer. 

Where do I send the appeal? 

Either by mail, courier, fax or email as follows:

Mail:
Attention: Executive Director 
British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board
PO Box 9129 Stn Prov Govt 
Victoria BC V8W 9B5 

Courier: 
Attention: Executive Director
British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board 
780 Blanshard Street
Victoria BC V8W 2H1

Email:  firb@gov.bc.ca

Fax:  250-356-5131
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What should be included in the 
notice of appeal? 

The notice of appeal must be accompanied by a non-
refundable $100.00 filing fee. Cheque or money orders 
should be made out to the “Minister of Finance”. 

The notice of appeal must include the following:

zz be in writing and signed

zz identify the decision being appealed

zz state why the decision should be changed

zz state the outcome requested from BCFIRB 

zz include your name, address, telephone number, 
email (or the contact information of the person 
handling appeal for you)

zz include an address for delivery of any notices 
related to the appeal

BCFIRB’s notice of appeal form can be used to file an 
appeal.

What happens when the British 
Columbia Farm Industry Review 
Board receives the appeal?

BCFIRB will send you a letter acknowledging the receipt 
of your appeal. This letter will also contain information 
which explains the appeal process in greater detail. At 
the same time, BCFIRB will notify the commodity board 
or commission concerned that an appeal has been filed 
and instruct them of their responsibilities as outlined in 
the Rules of Practice and Procedures.
 
BCFIRB will also ensure that the commodity board 
or commission has received a copy of your notice of 
appeal.

BCFIRB will issue notice to the parties requiring them 
to attend a pre-hearing conference call. The purpose of 
the pre-hearing conference will be to clarify the issue 
on appeal and determine the position of each party 
as well as the remedies sought by the appellant. The 
pre-hearing conference call will also be used to confirm 
hearing dates and directions for the appeal hearing.

BCFIRB encourages parties to consider Alternative 
Dispute Resolution (ADR) to facilitate settlements of 
the matter under appeal and will assist the parties 
in establishing an ADR process. Parties can apply to 
BCFIRB requesting ADR. Discussions about possible 
ADR alternatives will also be an agenda item for the pre-
hearing conference.

The hearing of your appeal will normally be held not 
more than 60 days after BCFIRB first receives your notice 
of appeal; however, these timelines will be dependent 
upon the circumstances of all the parties to the appeal.

What is the most important thing 
for me to remember? 

BCFIRB must receive your written notice of appeal 
within 30 days of an order, decision or determination of 
the commodity board or commission. Failure to meet 
this deadline may result in BCFIRB not hearing your 
appeal.

How can I get more information? 

For further information please refer to the Rules of 
Practice and Procedures. Section 8 of the
Natural Products Marketing (BC) Act(NPMA), and the 
Administrative Tribunals Act (ATA).

More information on the appeal process is available on 
BCFIRB’s website at:
www.gov.bc.ca/BCFarmIndustryReviewBoard.

The standing orders of the commodity board or 
commission involved may also contain information.
 

Should you have any further questions 
please feel free to contact BCFIRB directly 
at: : 

Phone: 250 356-8945 
Fax: 250 356-5131 
Email: firb@gov.bc.ca

Updated 2016
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Management's Responsibility

To the Members of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board:

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying financial statements, including responsibility for
significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations and ensuring
that all information in the annual report is consistent with the statements. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting
principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management designs and maintains the
necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets
are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.

The British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board and Finance Committee of the British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board are composed
entirely of Members who are neither management nor employees of the Board. The Board is responsible for overseeing management in
the performance of its financial reporting responsibilities, and for approving the financial information included in the annual report. The
Board fulfils these responsibilities by reviewing the financial information prepared by management and discussing relevant matters with
management and external auditors. The Committee is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the Board's external
auditors.

MNP LLP is appointed by the members to audit the financial statements and report directly to them; their report follows. The external
auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and separately with, both the Committee and management to discuss their
audit findings.

March 28, 2017

Executive Director
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board, which comprise the statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of British Columbia Chicken
Marketing Board as at December 31, 2016 and the results of its operations, changes in net assets and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Abbotsford, British Columbia

March 28, 2017 Chartered Professional Accountants

300 - 32988 South Fraser Way , Abbotsford, British Columbia, V2S 2A8, Phone: (604) 853-9471, 1 (877)853-9471
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2016

2016 2015

Assets
Current

Cash and cash equivalents 746,227 854,125
Accounts receivable 653,448 617,784
Prepaid expenses 54,885 42,296

1,454,560 1,514,205

Capital assets (Note 3) 127,216 77,082

Investments restricted for contingency fund (Note 4) 2,517,676 2,468,808

4,099,452 4,060,095

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accruals 270,754 256,114
Government remittances payable 29,127 19,154
Deferred revenue 35,584 -

335,465 275,268

Commitments (Note 5)

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets 127,216 77,082
Restricted for contingency fund 2,517,676 2,468,808
Unrestricted 1,119,095 1,238,937

3,763,987 3,784,827

4,099,452 4,060,095

Approved on behalf of the Board

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Operations

For the year ended December 31, 2016

2016 2015

Revenues
Grower assessments (Note 6) 4,315,298 4,134,611
Over marketing levies 485,607 327,691
Domestic lease income 66,004 194,693
IAF funding 32,750 97,769
Interest and sundry 83,168 68,268
Licenses 7,760 7,980
Permit fees 3,295 4,065

4,993,882 4,835,077

Operational expenses (Schedule 1) 4,171,197 3,922,689

Excess revenues over expenses 822,685 912,388

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

For the year ended December 31, 2016

Invested in
capital assets

Restricted for
contingency

fund

Unrestricted 2016 2015

Net assets, beginning of year 77,082 2,468,808 1,238,937 3,784,827 3,594,867

Excess revenues over expenses (14,583) - 837,268 822,685 912,388

Distribution of prior year's surplus (Note 9) - - (843,525) (843,525) (722,428)

Purchase of capital assets 64,717 - (64,717) - -

Income earned on restricted assets - 48,868 (48,868) - -

Net assets, end of year 127,216 2,517,676 1,119,095 3,763,987 3,784,827

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

3
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2016

2016 2015

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating

Excess revenues over expenses 822,685 912,388
Amortization 14,583 18,200

837,268 930,588
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (35,664) (123,292)
Prepaid expenses (12,589) 13,249
Accounts payable and accruals 14,640 (38,897)
Government remittances payable 9,973 3,985
Deferred revenue 35,584 (30,651)

849,212 754,982

Financing
Distribution of prior year's operating surplus to growers (843,525) (722,428)

Investing
Purchase of capital assets (64,717) (31,871)
Purchase of investment restricted for contingency fund (48,868) (48,412)

(113,585) (80,283)

Decrease in cash resources (107,898) (47,729)
Cash resources, beginning of year 854,125 901,854

Cash resources, end of year 746,227 854,125

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2016

1. Organization

The British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board ("the Board") was established in 1961 by the Natural Products Marketing
(British Columbia) Act to promote, control and regulate the transportation, processing, packing, storage, and marketing of all
classes of chicken in British Columbia. The Board is a non-profit agricultural organization and is exempt from income taxes
pursuant to subsection 149(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act.

2. Significant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations set out in Part III of the CPA Canada Handbook - Accounting, as issued by the Accounting Standards Board
in Canada, and include the following significant accounting policies:

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and term deposits with banks. Term deposits subject to restrictions that
prevent its use for current purposes are included in investments restricted for contingency fund.

Capital assets

Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost.

Amortization is provided using the declining balance method at rates intended to amortize the cost of assets over their
estimated useful lives.

Rate
Computer hardware 30 %
Computer software 100 %
Furniture and office equipment 10 %
Website 20 %

In the year of purchase, capital assets are amortized at one half of the regular rate. No amortization is recorded for capital
assets acquired but not put into service at year-end.

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining life of the lease agreement at the time
the leasehold improvement is purchased. Therefore, the assets are amortized over a period of 1 to 5 years.

Long-lived assets

Long-lived assets consist of capital assets. Long-lived assets held for use are measured and amortized as described in the
applicable accounting policies.

The Board performs impairment testing on long-lived assets held for use whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of an asset, or group of assets, may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recognized
when undiscounted future cash flows from its use and disposal are less than the asset’s carrying amount. Impairment is
measured as the amount by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its fair value. Any impairment is included in the
statement of operations for the year.

Prices for similar items are used to measure fair value of long-lived assets.

5
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2016

2. Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Fund accounting

In order to ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources available to the Board, the
accounts are maintained on a fund accounting basis. Accordingly, resources are classified for accounting and reporting
purposes into funds. These funds are held in accordance with the objectives specified by the contributors or in accordance
with the directives issued by the Board of Directors.

Unrestricted Fund
The Unrestricted Fund reports the revenues and expenses related to general and ancillary operations of the Board.

Capital Assets Fund
The Capital Assets Fund reports the Board’s capital assets and presents the flow of funds related to their acquisition and
disposal, unexpended capital resources and debt commitments.

Restricted for Contingency Fund
The Restricted Contingency Fund is pursuant to Part 15 "Distribution of Board Operating Surplus" of the General Orders, to
which the Board has established a fund represented by cash and cash equivalents in the minimum amount of $2,000,000
and not to exceed one year of budgeted Board expenses, to be used to fund expenditures for unforeseen circumstances.
Any amount deemed to be in excess to the set level of the contingency will be distributed to growers in proportion to the
amount of the levy paid by a grower. The Board has reserved the right to change the amount required in the Restricted
Contingency Fund and/or the levy rate at any time. In order to qualify for a distribution a grower must be in good standing
and be a current grower with the Board at the time that a distribution is declared. Investment income generated will be re-
invested into the Restricted for Contingency Fund.

Revenue recognition

Grower assessments are recognized as revenue when chickens are shipped to the processors and collectability is
reasonably assured. Over marketing levies in respect to quota usage during a production period are calculated and invoiced
to the grower approximately three weeks after the end of the production period. Over marketing levies are recognized on the
date of each individual grower’s shipment, when collectability is reasonably assured.

Domestic lease charges, payable to the Board in respect to quota usage during a production period, are invoiced in
accordance with part 43 of the August 26, 2011 General Orders.

Revenue from other sources are recorded when services are provided or revenue is received.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period.

Accounts receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts
is provided where considered necessary. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of capital assets.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary they are reported in
excess of revenues and expenses in the periods in which they become known.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2016

2. Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Financial instruments

The Board recognizes its financial instruments when the Board becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument. All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair value, including financial assets and liabilities
originated and issued in a related party transaction with management. Financial assets and liabilities originated and issued
in all other related party transactions are initially measured at their carrying or exchange amount in accordance with Section
3840 Related Party Transactions (See Note 8).

At initial recognition, the Board may irrevocably elect to subsequently measure any financial instrument at fair value. The
Board has not made such an election during the year.

The Board subsequently measures investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market and all derivatives at fair
value. Fair value is determined by quoted price quotations. Investments in equity instruments not quoted in an active market
are subsequently measured at cost less impairment. All other financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortized cost.

Transaction costs and financing fees directly attributable to the origination, acquisition, issuance or assumption of financial
instruments subsequently measured at fair value are immediately recognized in the statement of operations for the current
period. Conversely, transaction costs and financing fees are added to the carrying amount for those financial instruments
subsequently measured at cost or amortized cost.

Financial asset impairment

The Board assesses impairment of all of its financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost. The Board groups assets
for impairment testing when there are numerous assets affected by the same factors. Management considers whether there
has been a breach in contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments in determining whether
objective evidence of impairment exists. When there is an indication of impairment, the Board determines whether it has
resulted in a significant adverse change in the expected timing or amount of future cash flows during the year. If so, the
Board reduces the carrying amount of any impaired financial assets to the highest of: the present value of cash flows
expected to be generated by holding the assets; the amount that could be realized by selling the assets; and the amount
expected to be realized by exercising any rights to collateral held against those assets. Any impairment, which is not
considered temporary, is included in current year statement of operations.

The Board reverses impairment losses on financial assets when there is a decrease in impairment and the decrease can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized. The amount of the reversal is recognized
in the statement of operations in the year the reversal occurs.

3. Capital assets

2016 2015
Accumulated Net book Net book

Cost amortization value value

Computer hardware 205,282 192,016 13,266 18,563
Computer software 156,586 156,586 - -
Furniture and office equipment 349,665 318,549 31,116 27,803
Leasehold improvements 209,417 209,417 - -
Website 103,523 20,689 82,834 30,716

1,024,473 897,257 127,216 77,082

4. Investments restricted for contingency fund

Investments restricted for contingency fund consist of six term deposits which bear interest at 1.95%, maturing in May 2021.
In the prior year, the investment restricted for contingency fund consisted of six term deposits which earned interest at
2.00%, which were renewed in May 2016.

7
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2016

5. Commitments

(a) The Board leases office space with monthly rent of $4,724 (2015 - $4,724) until June 30, 2017, including triple net
expenses.

(b) The Board has entered into a contract to receive IT support with monthly fees of $2,100 (2015 - $2,100), which can be
cancelled upon request with computer hardware buyout.

(c) The Board has signed agreements for social media management services with monthly costs of $750, which can be
cancelled upon request.

(d) The Board has entered into an agreement with Alberta Chicken Producers and Chicken Farmers of Saskatchewan to
develop and license a computer software program ("Grower Program"). Development of the program will commence in 2017
and the Board has committed to pay $86,240 over the course of the program's development for its share of the cost. The
Board has also committed to pay for its share of hosting and maintenance costs on a monthly basis.

(e) The Board has committed to complete Salmonella Enteritidis (SE) testing for broiler farms with estimated costs for 2017
of $35,161.

(f) The Board has committed to completing a Specialty Asian Chicken Promotion program with estimated costs for 2017 of
$119,750 ($32,750 paid up until December 31, 2016).

(g) The Board has entered into an agreement to update the Pricing Model for Live BC Grown Chicken with estimated costs
of $45,000 for 2017 ($29,500 paid up until December 31, 2016).

(h) On a ten year rotation, each province takes turns hosting the Chicken Farmers of Canada annual meeting. The Board
has committed to hosting the Chicken Farmers of Canada 2017 Summer Meeting with estimated costs for 2017 of $168,070
($10,500 paid up until December 31, 2016). The Board expects to receive approximately $40,000 of funding from Chicken
Farmers of Canada for this event in 2017.

(i) The Board has entered into three vehicle leases and two equipment leases with total scheduled payments (including GST
and PST) as follows:

2017 20,014
2018 18,102
2019 1,636
2020 818

6. Grower assessments

The levy on all growers is 1.90 cents (2015 - 1.90) per kilogram, live weight on all chicken grown in British Columbia which
is inclusive of the CFC service fee. Of the levy assessed, 0.53 cents (2015 - 0.53) is remitted to the CFC for services
provided.

8
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2016

7. Unused credit facility

The Board has a credit facility agreement with the Royal Bank of Canada which provides for the following funding:

(a) $350,000 revolving facility for general operating requirements by way of Royal Bank loans. This facility bears interest at
bank prime lending rates plus 0.3% and is payable monthly. The borrowings under this facility are due on demand.

(b) $268,275 of letters of credit and guarantee to the Chicken Farmers of Canada ("CFC") for liquidated damages
pertaining to potential levies on excess production allocated to the province. The borrowings under this facility are due on
demand.

The agreement is secured by a general security agreement covering all assets of the Board, certified copies of Board
Members' resolutions authorizing the Board to borrow up to a maximum of $649,000 and an enforceable letter of
undertaking from the Board confirming that the number of birds placed on the farms will equal what the processors have
agreed to purchase.

The agreement contains certain covenants in respect to levies imposed on growers, regulation of the placement of birds
with processors and provision of weekly production reports.

8. Related party transactions

The following related party transactions have occurred during the year:

An operating grant totaling $509,877 (2015 - $338,463) and rent expense of $60,000 (2015 - $60,000) were paid to the
British Columbia Chicken Growers Association ("BCCGA"), incorporated under the Society Act of British Columbia. As at
the year ended December 31, 2016 the BCCGA had a surplus of revenue over expenditures of $49,578 (2015 - $49,741),
net of GST, which was returned to the Board reducing the operating grant from $559,455 to $509,877 (included in accounts
receivable). The BCCGA received additional funding of $70,426 in 2016 for the BC Poultry Conference (2015 - $nil) and
was not required to repay any additional funding to the Board (2015 - $50,001 for funds that had been deposited into the BC
Poultry Captive Insurance Company).

The BCCGA's mandate is to unite commercial chicken growers for the betterment of the industry and act as a liaison
between the chicken growers, marketing boards, industry and government. It is primarily funded by a grant from the Board
which approves the Association's annual operating budget.

These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange amount, which is the
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

9. Distribution of prior years' surplus

The Board distributes a surplus to growers based upon the total surplus calculated as select current assets less select
current liabilities and deferred revenue at year-end less one month's budgeted operating expenses. The following outlines
the funds that were distributed to growers in good standing and were based on the total kilograms of chicken shipped by the
growers in the year the surplus occurred:

2016 $ 843,525

2015 $ 722,428

2014 $ 808,254

2013 $1,280,760

2012 $ 927,158

9
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2016

10. Trust assets and liabilities

As at December 31, 2016 the Board held funds in trust with respect to the New Entrants Program for Growers. Trust assets
held totaled $30,000 (2015 - $45,000), which are included in cash and cash equivalents as well as accounts payable and
accruals.

11. Financial instruments

The Board, as part of its operations, carries a number of financial instruments. It is management's opinion that the Board is
not exposed to significant interest, currency, credit, liquidity or other price risks arising from these financial instruments
except as otherwise disclosed.

Credit concentration

As at December 31, 2016, five processors (2015 - five) accounted for 54% (2015 - 50%) of trade accounts receivable. The
Board believes that there is no unusual exposure associated with the collection of these receivables. The Board performs
regular credit assessments of its customers and provides allowances for potentially uncollectible accounts receivable.

12. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.

10
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Schedule 1 - Schedule of Operational Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2016

2016 2015

Operational expenses
Advertising and promotion 96,757 111,953
Amortization 14,583 18,200
British Columbia Chicken Growers Association (Note 8) 509,877 338,463
Bank charges and interest 7,158 7,206
Board members' remuneration, travel and meals 498,495 483,103
Chicken Farmers of Canada levy (Note 6) 1,203,374 1,154,076
Computer installation and consulting 91,201 75,341
Consulting fees 89,339 92,994
Dues, memberships and subscriptions 13,828 13,263
Insurance 5,925 5,676
New entrant program 1,000 1,440
Office supplies and stationary 72,830 71,873
PPAC 7,312 4,441
Postage 12,354 9,801
Poultry biosecurity 500 4,303
Professional fees 102,330 87,273
Rent (Note 8) 114,982 115,136
Repairs and maintenance 13,087 13,238
SMAC 68,128 37,000
Salaries and benefits 956,158 926,460
Staff travel 101,026 95,193
DEPI funding 5,793 -
Strategic plan initiative 165,921 235,119
Telephone 19,239 21,137

4,171,197 3,922,689
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BCCGA Director
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BC Poultry
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Operating Expenses

Secretaries

Operations

BC Chicken Growers’ Association Proposed 
Budget 2017
REVENUE
BCCMB Operating Grant 683,155.00 

Rental Income BCCMB Office 60,000.00 

BCBHEPA Poultry in Motion cost share 26,000.00 

TOTAL REVENUE 769,155.00 

EXPENSES
Annual Picnics, Dinners, BC Poultry 
Conference

123,500.00 

Audit, Legal, Consulting, Strat Planning 110,500.00 

BCCGA Director Expenses 221,000.00 

BCCMB Office Building 20,005.00 

BC Poultry Association Dues 59,700.00 

Poultry in Motion Operating Expenses 136,100.00 

Secretaries 68,000.00 

Operations 30,350.00 

TOTAL EXPENSES 769,155.00 
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BC CHICKEN GROWER’S ASSOCIATION
FUNDING AND USE REPORT 2016 VS 2015BC Chicken Growers' Association
Funding and Use Report  2016 vs 2015

Total 2016              
$

Total 2015               
$

Total 
Variance           

$

2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue 559,455 444,083 115,372 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 559,455 444,083 115,372
Rental Income 60,000 60,000 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 60,000 60,000 -
Poultry in Motion 14,179 22,905 8,726- 14,179 22,905 8,726- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Grant Income 17,773 28,037 10,264- 17,773 28,037 10,264- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
BCAC Rebate 372 1,036 664- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 372 1,036 664-
Interest Income 681 1,592 911- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 681 1,592 911-
BCCMB Operating Surplus 49,578- 99,742- 50,164 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 49,578- 99,742- 50,164

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem 179,554 171,184 8,370 21,546 20,542 1,004 35,911 34,237 1,674 23,342 22,254 1,088 8,978 8,559 419 17,955 17,118 837 17,955 17,118 837 35,911 34,237 1,674 8,978 8,559 419 8,978 8,559 419
Secretaries' Honorarium 68,660 64,698 3,962 13,732 12,940 792 13,732 12,940 792 6,866 6,470 396 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 10,299 9,705 594 10,299 9,705 594
Per Diem Non Directors 60,850 26,859 33,991 54,765 24,173 30,592 3,651 1,612 2,039 2,434 1,074 1,360 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Audit/Legal/Consulting 65,413 53,340 12,073 - - 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 45,789 37,338 8,451 3,271 2,667 604 - -
Advertising & Promotions 1,221 1,257 36- 733 754 22- 244 251 7- 244 251 7- - - - - - - - - - - - -
PiM Operating expenses 40,731 26,882 13,849 40,731 26,882 13,849 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Annual Dinners/Picnics 18,095 18,118 23- - - 10,857 10,871 14- 4,524 4,530 6- 905 906 1- - - 905 906 1- 905 906 1- - - - -
BC Poultry Conference 84,006 - 84,006 4,200 4,200 33,602 33,602 33,602 33,602 4,200 4,200 - - 4,200 4,200 4,200 4,200 - - - -
Conferences & Seminars 3,077 1,581 1,496 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 - -
Dues & Subscription 120 - 120 - - 108 108 - - - - - - - - - - 12 12 - -
Insurance 2,962 3,216 254- 1,777 1,930 152- - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,185 1,286 101- - -
Office/Bank expenses 2,187 1,891 296 219 189 30 875 756 119 219 189 30 219 189 30 - - 219 189 30 219 189 30 219 189 30 - -
Property Taxes 8,515 8,720 205- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 8,515 8,720 205-
Meetings/Refreshments 4,250 4,795 545- 425 480 55- 1,063 1,199 136- 213 240 27- 213 240 28- 213 240 28- - - 2,125 2,398 273- - - - -
Telephone/Fax/Internet/Conf. C 1,463 1,493 30- 366 373 7- 366 373 7- 146 149 3- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 366 373 7- - - - -
Strata Fees 10,205 10,205 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 10,205 10,205 -
BC Poultry Assn 49,080 59,819 10,739- 2,454 2,991 537- 4,908 5,982 1,074- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 2,454 2,991 537- - - - -
Travel & Meals 56,219 45,257 10,962 2,811 2,263 548 11,244 9,051 2,192 8,433 6,789 1,644 5,622 4,526 1,096 5,622 4,526 1,096 8,433 6,789 1,644 14,055 11,314 2,741 - - - -
Donations 13,936 5,474 8,462 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 - - - - 5,574 2,190 3,384 - - - - - -

Total Revenue 602,882 457,911 144,971 31,952 50,942 (18,990) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 570,930 406,969 163,961
Total Expense 670,544 504,789 165,755 146,854 94,769 52,085 122,926 81,192 41,734 93,750 54,838 38,912 34,582 29,528 5,054 43,298 43,053 245 56,795 48,361 8,434 109,918 93,218 16,700 24,424 22,643 1,781 37,997 37,189 808
Net (67,662) (46,878) (20,784) (114,902) (43,827) (71,075) (122,926) (81,192) (41,734) (93,750) (54,838) (38,912) (34,582) (29,528) (5,054) (43,298) (43,053) (245) (56,795) (48,361) (8,434) (109,918) (93,218) (16,700) (24,424) (22,643) (1,781) 532,933 369,780 163,153

Consumer Confidence/Positive 
Image/Increase Chicken Consumption Stakeholder Relations - Growers Stakeholder Relations - 

Processors/Allied Trades Stakeholder Relations - Government Sustainability - Environmental Sustainability - Socially Sustainable 
Industry Sustainability - Profitable Members Association Governance Funding

BC Chicken Growers' Association
Funding and Use Report  2016 vs 2015

Total 2016              
$

Total 2015               
$

Total 
Variance           

$

2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue 559,455 444,083 115,372 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 559,455 444,083 115,372
Rental Income 60,000 60,000 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 60,000 60,000 -
Poultry in Motion 14,179 22,905 8,726- 14,179 22,905 8,726- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Grant Income 17,773 28,037 10,264- 17,773 28,037 10,264- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
BCAC Rebate 372 1,036 664- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 372 1,036 664-
Interest Income 681 1,592 911- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 681 1,592 911-
BCCMB Operating Surplus 49,578- 99,742- 50,164 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 49,578- 99,742- 50,164

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem 179,554 171,184 8,370 21,546 20,542 1,004 35,911 34,237 1,674 23,342 22,254 1,088 8,978 8,559 419 17,955 17,118 837 17,955 17,118 837 35,911 34,237 1,674 8,978 8,559 419 8,978 8,559 419
Secretaries' Honorarium 68,660 64,698 3,962 13,732 12,940 792 13,732 12,940 792 6,866 6,470 396 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 10,299 9,705 594 10,299 9,705 594
Per Diem Non Directors 60,850 26,859 33,991 54,765 24,173 30,592 3,651 1,612 2,039 2,434 1,074 1,360 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Audit/Legal/Consulting 65,413 53,340 12,073 - - 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 45,789 37,338 8,451 3,271 2,667 604 - -
Advertising & Promotions 1,221 1,257 36- 733 754 22- 244 251 7- 244 251 7- - - - - - - - - - - - -
PiM Operating expenses 40,731 26,882 13,849 40,731 26,882 13,849 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Annual Dinners/Picnics 18,095 18,118 23- - - 10,857 10,871 14- 4,524 4,530 6- 905 906 1- - - 905 906 1- 905 906 1- - - - -
BC Poultry Conference 84,006 - 84,006 4,200 4,200 33,602 33,602 33,602 33,602 4,200 4,200 - - 4,200 4,200 4,200 4,200 - - - -
Conferences & Seminars 3,077 1,581 1,496 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 - -
Dues & Subscription 120 - 120 - - 108 108 - - - - - - - - - - 12 12 - -
Insurance 2,962 3,216 254- 1,777 1,930 152- - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,185 1,286 101- - -
Office/Bank expenses 2,187 1,891 296 219 189 30 875 756 119 219 189 30 219 189 30 - - 219 189 30 219 189 30 219 189 30 - -
Property Taxes 8,515 8,720 205- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 8,515 8,720 205-
Meetings/Refreshments 4,250 4,795 545- 425 480 55- 1,063 1,199 136- 213 240 27- 213 240 28- 213 240 28- - - 2,125 2,398 273- - - - -
Telephone/Fax/Internet/Conf. C 1,463 1,493 30- 366 373 7- 366 373 7- 146 149 3- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 366 373 7- - - - -
Strata Fees 10,205 10,205 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 10,205 10,205 -
BC Poultry Assn 49,080 59,819 10,739- 2,454 2,991 537- 4,908 5,982 1,074- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 2,454 2,991 537- - - - -
Travel & Meals 56,219 45,257 10,962 2,811 2,263 548 11,244 9,051 2,192 8,433 6,789 1,644 5,622 4,526 1,096 5,622 4,526 1,096 8,433 6,789 1,644 14,055 11,314 2,741 - - - -
Donations 13,936 5,474 8,462 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 - - - - 5,574 2,190 3,384 - - - - - -

Total Revenue 602,882 457,911 144,971 31,952 50,942 (18,990) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 570,930 406,969 163,961
Total Expense 670,544 504,789 165,755 146,854 94,769 52,085 122,926 81,192 41,734 93,750 54,838 38,912 34,582 29,528 5,054 43,298 43,053 245 56,795 48,361 8,434 109,918 93,218 16,700 24,424 22,643 1,781 37,997 37,189 808
Net (67,662) (46,878) (20,784) (114,902) (43,827) (71,075) (122,926) (81,192) (41,734) (93,750) (54,838) (38,912) (34,582) (29,528) (5,054) (43,298) (43,053) (245) (56,795) (48,361) (8,434) (109,918) (93,218) (16,700) (24,424) (22,643) (1,781) 532,933 369,780 163,153

Consumer Confidence/Positive 
Image/Increase Chicken Consumption Stakeholder Relations - Growers Stakeholder Relations - 

Processors/Allied Trades Stakeholder Relations - Government Sustainability - Environmental Sustainability - Socially Sustainable 
Industry Sustainability - Profitable Members Association Governance Funding

BC Chicken Growers' Association
Funding and Use Report  2016 vs 2015

Total 2016              
$

Total 2015               
$

Total 
Variance           

$

2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue 559,455 444,083 115,372 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 559,455 444,083 115,372
Rental Income 60,000 60,000 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 60,000 60,000 -
Poultry in Motion 14,179 22,905 8,726- 14,179 22,905 8,726- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Grant Income 17,773 28,037 10,264- 17,773 28,037 10,264- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
BCAC Rebate 372 1,036 664- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 372 1,036 664-
Interest Income 681 1,592 911- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 681 1,592 911-
BCCMB Operating Surplus 49,578- 99,742- 50,164 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 49,578- 99,742- 50,164

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem 179,554 171,184 8,370 21,546 20,542 1,004 35,911 34,237 1,674 23,342 22,254 1,088 8,978 8,559 419 17,955 17,118 837 17,955 17,118 837 35,911 34,237 1,674 8,978 8,559 419 8,978 8,559 419
Secretaries' Honorarium 68,660 64,698 3,962 13,732 12,940 792 13,732 12,940 792 6,866 6,470 396 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 10,299 9,705 594 10,299 9,705 594
Per Diem Non Directors 60,850 26,859 33,991 54,765 24,173 30,592 3,651 1,612 2,039 2,434 1,074 1,360 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Audit/Legal/Consulting 65,413 53,340 12,073 - - 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 45,789 37,338 8,451 3,271 2,667 604 - -
Advertising & Promotions 1,221 1,257 36- 733 754 22- 244 251 7- 244 251 7- - - - - - - - - - - - -
PiM Operating expenses 40,731 26,882 13,849 40,731 26,882 13,849 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Annual Dinners/Picnics 18,095 18,118 23- - - 10,857 10,871 14- 4,524 4,530 6- 905 906 1- - - 905 906 1- 905 906 1- - - - -
BC Poultry Conference 84,006 - 84,006 4,200 4,200 33,602 33,602 33,602 33,602 4,200 4,200 - - 4,200 4,200 4,200 4,200 - - - -
Conferences & Seminars 3,077 1,581 1,496 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 - -
Dues & Subscription 120 - 120 - - 108 108 - - - - - - - - - - 12 12 - -
Insurance 2,962 3,216 254- 1,777 1,930 152- - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,185 1,286 101- - -
Office/Bank expenses 2,187 1,891 296 219 189 30 875 756 119 219 189 30 219 189 30 - - 219 189 30 219 189 30 219 189 30 - -
Property Taxes 8,515 8,720 205- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 8,515 8,720 205-
Meetings/Refreshments 4,250 4,795 545- 425 480 55- 1,063 1,199 136- 213 240 27- 213 240 28- 213 240 28- - - 2,125 2,398 273- - - - -
Telephone/Fax/Internet/Conf. C 1,463 1,493 30- 366 373 7- 366 373 7- 146 149 3- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 366 373 7- - - - -
Strata Fees 10,205 10,205 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 10,205 10,205 -
BC Poultry Assn 49,080 59,819 10,739- 2,454 2,991 537- 4,908 5,982 1,074- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 2,454 2,991 537- - - - -
Travel & Meals 56,219 45,257 10,962 2,811 2,263 548 11,244 9,051 2,192 8,433 6,789 1,644 5,622 4,526 1,096 5,622 4,526 1,096 8,433 6,789 1,644 14,055 11,314 2,741 - - - -
Donations 13,936 5,474 8,462 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 - - - - 5,574 2,190 3,384 - - - - - -

Total Revenue 602,882 457,911 144,971 31,952 50,942 (18,990) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 570,930 406,969 163,961
Total Expense 670,544 504,789 165,755 146,854 94,769 52,085 122,926 81,192 41,734 93,750 54,838 38,912 34,582 29,528 5,054 43,298 43,053 245 56,795 48,361 8,434 109,918 93,218 16,700 24,424 22,643 1,781 37,997 37,189 808
Net (67,662) (46,878) (20,784) (114,902) (43,827) (71,075) (122,926) (81,192) (41,734) (93,750) (54,838) (38,912) (34,582) (29,528) (5,054) (43,298) (43,053) (245) (56,795) (48,361) (8,434) (109,918) (93,218) (16,700) (24,424) (22,643) (1,781) 532,933 369,780 163,153
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Total 2016              
$

Total 2015               
$

Total 
Variance           

$

2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue 559,455 444,083 115,372 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 559,455 444,083 115,372
Rental Income 60,000 60,000 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 60,000 60,000 -
Poultry in Motion 14,179 22,905 8,726- 14,179 22,905 8,726- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Grant Income 17,773 28,037 10,264- 17,773 28,037 10,264- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
BCAC Rebate 372 1,036 664- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 372 1,036 664-
Interest Income 681 1,592 911- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 681 1,592 911-
BCCMB Operating Surplus 49,578- 99,742- 50,164 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 49,578- 99,742- 50,164

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem 179,554 171,184 8,370 21,546 20,542 1,004 35,911 34,237 1,674 23,342 22,254 1,088 8,978 8,559 419 17,955 17,118 837 17,955 17,118 837 35,911 34,237 1,674 8,978 8,559 419 8,978 8,559 419
Secretaries' Honorarium 68,660 64,698 3,962 13,732 12,940 792 13,732 12,940 792 6,866 6,470 396 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 10,299 9,705 594 10,299 9,705 594
Per Diem Non Directors 60,850 26,859 33,991 54,765 24,173 30,592 3,651 1,612 2,039 2,434 1,074 1,360 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Audit/Legal/Consulting 65,413 53,340 12,073 - - 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 45,789 37,338 8,451 3,271 2,667 604 - -
Advertising & Promotions 1,221 1,257 36- 733 754 22- 244 251 7- 244 251 7- - - - - - - - - - - - -
PiM Operating expenses 40,731 26,882 13,849 40,731 26,882 13,849 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Annual Dinners/Picnics 18,095 18,118 23- - - 10,857 10,871 14- 4,524 4,530 6- 905 906 1- - - 905 906 1- 905 906 1- - - - -
BC Poultry Conference 84,006 - 84,006 4,200 4,200 33,602 33,602 33,602 33,602 4,200 4,200 - - 4,200 4,200 4,200 4,200 - - - -
Conferences & Seminars 3,077 1,581 1,496 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 - -
Dues & Subscription 120 - 120 - - 108 108 - - - - - - - - - - 12 12 - -
Insurance 2,962 3,216 254- 1,777 1,930 152- - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,185 1,286 101- - -
Office/Bank expenses 2,187 1,891 296 219 189 30 875 756 119 219 189 30 219 189 30 - - 219 189 30 219 189 30 219 189 30 - -
Property Taxes 8,515 8,720 205- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 8,515 8,720 205-
Meetings/Refreshments 4,250 4,795 545- 425 480 55- 1,063 1,199 136- 213 240 27- 213 240 28- 213 240 28- - - 2,125 2,398 273- - - - -
Telephone/Fax/Internet/Conf. C 1,463 1,493 30- 366 373 7- 366 373 7- 146 149 3- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 366 373 7- - - - -
Strata Fees 10,205 10,205 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 10,205 10,205 -
BC Poultry Assn 49,080 59,819 10,739- 2,454 2,991 537- 4,908 5,982 1,074- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 2,454 2,991 537- - - - -
Travel & Meals 56,219 45,257 10,962 2,811 2,263 548 11,244 9,051 2,192 8,433 6,789 1,644 5,622 4,526 1,096 5,622 4,526 1,096 8,433 6,789 1,644 14,055 11,314 2,741 - - - -
Donations 13,936 5,474 8,462 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 - - - - 5,574 2,190 3,384 - - - - - -

Total Revenue 602,882 457,911 144,971 31,952 50,942 (18,990) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 570,930 406,969 163,961
Total Expense 670,544 504,789 165,755 146,854 94,769 52,085 122,926 81,192 41,734 93,750 54,838 38,912 34,582 29,528 5,054 43,298 43,053 245 56,795 48,361 8,434 109,918 93,218 16,700 24,424 22,643 1,781 37,997 37,189 808
Net (67,662) (46,878) (20,784) (114,902) (43,827) (71,075) (122,926) (81,192) (41,734) (93,750) (54,838) (38,912) (34,582) (29,528) (5,054) (43,298) (43,053) (245) (56,795) (48,361) (8,434) (109,918) (93,218) (16,700) (24,424) (22,643) (1,781) 532,933 369,780 163,153
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BC Chicken Growers' Association
Funding and Use Report  2016 vs 2015

Total 2016              
$

Total 2015               
$

Total 
Variance           

$

2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue 559,455 444,083 115,372 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 559,455 444,083 115,372
Rental Income 60,000 60,000 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 60,000 60,000 -
Poultry in Motion 14,179 22,905 8,726- 14,179 22,905 8,726- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Grant Income 17,773 28,037 10,264- 17,773 28,037 10,264- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
BCAC Rebate 372 1,036 664- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 372 1,036 664-
Interest Income 681 1,592 911- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 681 1,592 911-
BCCMB Operating Surplus 49,578- 99,742- 50,164 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 49,578- 99,742- 50,164

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem 179,554 171,184 8,370 21,546 20,542 1,004 35,911 34,237 1,674 23,342 22,254 1,088 8,978 8,559 419 17,955 17,118 837 17,955 17,118 837 35,911 34,237 1,674 8,978 8,559 419 8,978 8,559 419
Secretaries' Honorarium 68,660 64,698 3,962 13,732 12,940 792 13,732 12,940 792 6,866 6,470 396 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 10,299 9,705 594 10,299 9,705 594
Per Diem Non Directors 60,850 26,859 33,991 54,765 24,173 30,592 3,651 1,612 2,039 2,434 1,074 1,360 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Audit/Legal/Consulting 65,413 53,340 12,073 - - 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 45,789 37,338 8,451 3,271 2,667 604 - -
Advertising & Promotions 1,221 1,257 36- 733 754 22- 244 251 7- 244 251 7- - - - - - - - - - - - -
PiM Operating expenses 40,731 26,882 13,849 40,731 26,882 13,849 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Annual Dinners/Picnics 18,095 18,118 23- - - 10,857 10,871 14- 4,524 4,530 6- 905 906 1- - - 905 906 1- 905 906 1- - - - -
BC Poultry Conference 84,006 - 84,006 4,200 4,200 33,602 33,602 33,602 33,602 4,200 4,200 - - 4,200 4,200 4,200 4,200 - - - -
Conferences & Seminars 3,077 1,581 1,496 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 - -
Dues & Subscription 120 - 120 - - 108 108 - - - - - - - - - - 12 12 - -
Insurance 2,962 3,216 254- 1,777 1,930 152- - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,185 1,286 101- - -
Office/Bank expenses 2,187 1,891 296 219 189 30 875 756 119 219 189 30 219 189 30 - - 219 189 30 219 189 30 219 189 30 - -
Property Taxes 8,515 8,720 205- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 8,515 8,720 205-
Meetings/Refreshments 4,250 4,795 545- 425 480 55- 1,063 1,199 136- 213 240 27- 213 240 28- 213 240 28- - - 2,125 2,398 273- - - - -
Telephone/Fax/Internet/Conf. C 1,463 1,493 30- 366 373 7- 366 373 7- 146 149 3- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 366 373 7- - - - -
Strata Fees 10,205 10,205 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 10,205 10,205 -
BC Poultry Assn 49,080 59,819 10,739- 2,454 2,991 537- 4,908 5,982 1,074- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 2,454 2,991 537- - - - -
Travel & Meals 56,219 45,257 10,962 2,811 2,263 548 11,244 9,051 2,192 8,433 6,789 1,644 5,622 4,526 1,096 5,622 4,526 1,096 8,433 6,789 1,644 14,055 11,314 2,741 - - - -
Donations 13,936 5,474 8,462 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 - - - - 5,574 2,190 3,384 - - - - - -

Total Revenue 602,882 457,911 144,971 31,952 50,942 (18,990) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 570,930 406,969 163,961
Total Expense 670,544 504,789 165,755 146,854 94,769 52,085 122,926 81,192 41,734 93,750 54,838 38,912 34,582 29,528 5,054 43,298 43,053 245 56,795 48,361 8,434 109,918 93,218 16,700 24,424 22,643 1,781 37,997 37,189 808
Net (67,662) (46,878) (20,784) (114,902) (43,827) (71,075) (122,926) (81,192) (41,734) (93,750) (54,838) (38,912) (34,582) (29,528) (5,054) (43,298) (43,053) (245) (56,795) (48,361) (8,434) (109,918) (93,218) (16,700) (24,424) (22,643) (1,781) 532,933 369,780 163,153
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Total 2016              
$

Total 2015               
$

Total 
Variance           

$

2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue 559,455 444,083 115,372 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 559,455 444,083 115,372
Rental Income 60,000 60,000 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 60,000 60,000 -
Poultry in Motion 14,179 22,905 8,726- 14,179 22,905 8,726- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Grant Income 17,773 28,037 10,264- 17,773 28,037 10,264- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
BCAC Rebate 372 1,036 664- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 372 1,036 664-
Interest Income 681 1,592 911- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 681 1,592 911-
BCCMB Operating Surplus 49,578- 99,742- 50,164 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 49,578- 99,742- 50,164

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem 179,554 171,184 8,370 21,546 20,542 1,004 35,911 34,237 1,674 23,342 22,254 1,088 8,978 8,559 419 17,955 17,118 837 17,955 17,118 837 35,911 34,237 1,674 8,978 8,559 419 8,978 8,559 419
Secretaries' Honorarium 68,660 64,698 3,962 13,732 12,940 792 13,732 12,940 792 6,866 6,470 396 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 10,299 9,705 594 10,299 9,705 594
Per Diem Non Directors 60,850 26,859 33,991 54,765 24,173 30,592 3,651 1,612 2,039 2,434 1,074 1,360 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Audit/Legal/Consulting 65,413 53,340 12,073 - - 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 45,789 37,338 8,451 3,271 2,667 604 - -
Advertising & Promotions 1,221 1,257 36- 733 754 22- 244 251 7- 244 251 7- - - - - - - - - - - - -
PiM Operating expenses 40,731 26,882 13,849 40,731 26,882 13,849 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Annual Dinners/Picnics 18,095 18,118 23- - - 10,857 10,871 14- 4,524 4,530 6- 905 906 1- - - 905 906 1- 905 906 1- - - - -
BC Poultry Conference 84,006 - 84,006 4,200 4,200 33,602 33,602 33,602 33,602 4,200 4,200 - - 4,200 4,200 4,200 4,200 - - - -
Conferences & Seminars 3,077 1,581 1,496 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 - -
Dues & Subscription 120 - 120 - - 108 108 - - - - - - - - - - 12 12 - -
Insurance 2,962 3,216 254- 1,777 1,930 152- - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,185 1,286 101- - -
Office/Bank expenses 2,187 1,891 296 219 189 30 875 756 119 219 189 30 219 189 30 - - 219 189 30 219 189 30 219 189 30 - -
Property Taxes 8,515 8,720 205- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 8,515 8,720 205-
Meetings/Refreshments 4,250 4,795 545- 425 480 55- 1,063 1,199 136- 213 240 27- 213 240 28- 213 240 28- - - 2,125 2,398 273- - - - -
Telephone/Fax/Internet/Conf. C 1,463 1,493 30- 366 373 7- 366 373 7- 146 149 3- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 366 373 7- - - - -
Strata Fees 10,205 10,205 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 10,205 10,205 -
BC Poultry Assn 49,080 59,819 10,739- 2,454 2,991 537- 4,908 5,982 1,074- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 2,454 2,991 537- - - - -
Travel & Meals 56,219 45,257 10,962 2,811 2,263 548 11,244 9,051 2,192 8,433 6,789 1,644 5,622 4,526 1,096 5,622 4,526 1,096 8,433 6,789 1,644 14,055 11,314 2,741 - - - -
Donations 13,936 5,474 8,462 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 - - - - 5,574 2,190 3,384 - - - - - -

Total Revenue 602,882 457,911 144,971 31,952 50,942 (18,990) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 570,930 406,969 163,961
Total Expense 670,544 504,789 165,755 146,854 94,769 52,085 122,926 81,192 41,734 93,750 54,838 38,912 34,582 29,528 5,054 43,298 43,053 245 56,795 48,361 8,434 109,918 93,218 16,700 24,424 22,643 1,781 37,997 37,189 808
Net (67,662) (46,878) (20,784) (114,902) (43,827) (71,075) (122,926) (81,192) (41,734) (93,750) (54,838) (38,912) (34,582) (29,528) (5,054) (43,298) (43,053) (245) (56,795) (48,361) (8,434) (109,918) (93,218) (16,700) (24,424) (22,643) (1,781) 532,933 369,780 163,153
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Processors/Allied Trades Stakeholder Relations - Government Sustainability - Environmental Sustainability - Socially Sustainable 
Industry Sustainability - Profitable Members Association Governance Funding

BC Chicken Growers' Association
Funding and Use Report  2016 vs 2015

Total 2016              
$

Total 2015               
$

Total 
Variance           

$

2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue 559,455 444,083 115,372 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 559,455 444,083 115,372
Rental Income 60,000 60,000 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 60,000 60,000 -
Poultry in Motion 14,179 22,905 8,726- 14,179 22,905 8,726- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Grant Income 17,773 28,037 10,264- 17,773 28,037 10,264- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
BCAC Rebate 372 1,036 664- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 372 1,036 664-
Interest Income 681 1,592 911- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 681 1,592 911-
BCCMB Operating Surplus 49,578- 99,742- 50,164 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 49,578- 99,742- 50,164

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem 179,554 171,184 8,370 21,546 20,542 1,004 35,911 34,237 1,674 23,342 22,254 1,088 8,978 8,559 419 17,955 17,118 837 17,955 17,118 837 35,911 34,237 1,674 8,978 8,559 419 8,978 8,559 419
Secretaries' Honorarium 68,660 64,698 3,962 13,732 12,940 792 13,732 12,940 792 6,866 6,470 396 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 3,433 3,235 198 10,299 9,705 594 10,299 9,705 594
Per Diem Non Directors 60,850 26,859 33,991 54,765 24,173 30,592 3,651 1,612 2,039 2,434 1,074 1,360 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Audit/Legal/Consulting 65,413 53,340 12,073 - - 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 3,271 2,667 604 45,789 37,338 8,451 3,271 2,667 604 - -
Advertising & Promotions 1,221 1,257 36- 733 754 22- 244 251 7- 244 251 7- - - - - - - - - - - - -
PiM Operating expenses 40,731 26,882 13,849 40,731 26,882 13,849 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Annual Dinners/Picnics 18,095 18,118 23- - - 10,857 10,871 14- 4,524 4,530 6- 905 906 1- - - 905 906 1- 905 906 1- - - - -
BC Poultry Conference 84,006 - 84,006 4,200 4,200 33,602 33,602 33,602 33,602 4,200 4,200 - - 4,200 4,200 4,200 4,200 - - - -
Conferences & Seminars 3,077 1,581 1,496 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 308 158 150 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 462 237 225 - -
Dues & Subscription 120 - 120 - - 108 108 - - - - - - - - - - 12 12 - -
Insurance 2,962 3,216 254- 1,777 1,930 152- - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,185 1,286 101- - -
Office/Bank expenses 2,187 1,891 296 219 189 30 875 756 119 219 189 30 219 189 30 - - 219 189 30 219 189 30 219 189 30 - -
Property Taxes 8,515 8,720 205- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 8,515 8,720 205-
Meetings/Refreshments 4,250 4,795 545- 425 480 55- 1,063 1,199 136- 213 240 27- 213 240 28- 213 240 28- - - 2,125 2,398 273- - - - -
Telephone/Fax/Internet/Conf. C 1,463 1,493 30- 366 373 7- 366 373 7- 146 149 3- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 73 75 2- 366 373 7- - - - -
Strata Fees 10,205 10,205 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 10,205 10,205 -
BC Poultry Assn 49,080 59,819 10,739- 2,454 2,991 537- 4,908 5,982 1,074- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 7,362 8,973 1,611- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 12,270 14,955 2,685- 2,454 2,991 537- - - - -
Travel & Meals 56,219 45,257 10,962 2,811 2,263 548 11,244 9,051 2,192 8,433 6,789 1,644 5,622 4,526 1,096 5,622 4,526 1,096 8,433 6,789 1,644 14,055 11,314 2,741 - - - -
Donations 13,936 5,474 8,462 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 2,787 1,095 1,692 - - - - 5,574 2,190 3,384 - - - - - -

Total Revenue 602,882 457,911 144,971 31,952 50,942 (18,990) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 570,930 406,969 163,961
Total Expense 670,544 504,789 165,755 146,854 94,769 52,085 122,926 81,192 41,734 93,750 54,838 38,912 34,582 29,528 5,054 43,298 43,053 245 56,795 48,361 8,434 109,918 93,218 16,700 24,424 22,643 1,781 37,997 37,189 808
Net (67,662) (46,878) (20,784) (114,902) (43,827) (71,075) (122,926) (81,192) (41,734) (93,750) (54,838) (38,912) (34,582) (29,528) (5,054) (43,298) (43,053) (245) (56,795) (48,361) (8,434) (109,918) (93,218) (16,700) (24,424) (22,643) (1,781) 532,933 369,780 163,153

Consumer Confidence/Positive 
Image/Increase Chicken Consumption Stakeholder Relations - Growers Stakeholder Relations - 

Processors/Allied Trades Stakeholder Relations - Government Sustainability - Environmental Sustainability - Socially Sustainable 
Industry Sustainability - Profitable Members Association Governance Funding
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MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The management of BC Chicken Growers' Association is responsible for preparing the financial
statements, the notes to the financial statements and other financial information contained in this annual
report.

Management prepares the financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles. The financial statements are considered by management to present fairly the
management's financial position and results of operations.

The organization, in fulfilling its responsibilities, has developed and maintains a system of internal
accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that management assets are safeguarded
from loss or unauthorized use, and that the records are reliable for preparing the financial statements.

The financial statements have been reported on by CRKG LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, the
Association's auditors. Their report outlines the scope of their examination and their opinion on the
financial statements.

Dale Krahn, President
January 31, 2017
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J .T. Cazander, CPA, CGA *
Peter Ronda, CPA, CGA *
Joe Kerkhoff, CPA, CGA *
R. Scott Groenwold, CPA, CGA*
*Practicing through a professional corporation

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of 
BC Chicken Growers' Association

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BC Chicken Growers' Association, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the statements of operations,
changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the organization's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the organization's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of BC
Chicken Growers' Association as at December 31, 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises.

Abbotsford, BC
January 31, 2017 CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS
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Statement 1
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31

2016 2015

ASSETS

Current
Cash $ 126,734 $ 26,568
Term deposits - 150,000
Accounts receivable 12,877 9,606
GST receivable - 2,528
Inventory (Note 4) 3,844 12,045
Prepaid expenses 19,528 29,935

162,983 230,682

Capital assets (Note 5) 268,116 276,920

$ 431,099 $ 507,602

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 58,055 $ 64,140
GST payable 8 -

58,063 64,140

Fund balances 373,036 443,462

$ 431,099 $ 507,602

APPROVED:

  Director   Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 1
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31

2014 2013

ASSETS

Current
Cash $ 22,140 $ 57,170
Term deposits (Note 13) 150,000 150,000
Accounts receivable 716 2,105
Inventory (Note 4) 14,683 7,219
Prepaid expenses 4,027 1,165
GST receivable 139 6,689

191,705 224,348

Investment (Note 5) 50,001 -

Capital assets (Note 6) 280,890 286,884

$ 522,596 $ 511,232

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 9,242 $ 65,964
Prepaid grant (Note 7) 13,037 14,662

22,279 80,626

Fund balances 500,317 430,606

$ 522,596 $ 511,232

APPROVED:

  Director

  Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
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Statement 2
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year ended December 31

2014 2013

Revenues
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 8) $ 421,205 $ 440,005
Miscellaneous income 1,660 1,646

422,865 441,651

Expenditures
Advertising and promotion 8,927 1,108
Amortization 679 230
Annual picnic, dances and dinners 22,225 19,709
BC Poultry Association (Note 9) 60,104 64,772
Bank charges 80 65
Conferences and seminars 1,676 7,128
Directors remuneration 135,619 147,306
Donations 3,750 4,860
Meetings and refreshments 3,784 3,341
Memberships, dues and subscriptions 91 3,607
Office 3,119 2,942
Professional fees (Note 10) 26,712 8,659
Secretaries honoraria 63,341 61,074
Telephone and utilities 1,226 1,625
Travel and meals 40,353 51,016

371,686 377,442

Excess of revenues over expenditures from operations 51,179 64,209

Other income (loss)
Loss on sale of capital assets - (1,661)
Rental income, Schedule 1 34,364 30,893
Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns, Schedule 2 (14,514) (31,535)
BC Agriculture Council 1,300 -
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 13) (2,618) (57,502)

18,532 (59,805)

Excess of revenues over expenditures for year $ 69,711 $ 4,404

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 2
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year ended December 31

2016 2015

Revenues
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 6) $ 559,455 $ 444,083
Miscellaneous income 681 1,592

560,136 445,675

Expenditures
Advertising and promotion 2,847 1,257
Amortization 531 600
Annual picnic and dinners 18,095 18,118
BC Poultry Association (Note 7) 49,080 59,819
BC Poultry Conference 70,426 -
Bank charges 60 17
Conferences and seminars 3,077 1,581
Directors remuneration 173,148 157,796
Donations 13,936 5,474
Meetings and refreshments 4,250 4,795
Memberships, dues and subscriptions 120 -
Office 2,127 1,874
Professional fees (Note 8) 65,413 53,340
Secretaries honoraria 68,660 64,698
Telecommunications 1,463 1,493
Travel and meals 56,219 45,257

529,452 416,119

Excess of revenues over expenditures from operations 30,684 29,556

Other income (loss)
BC Agriculture Council 372 1,036
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 10) (49,578) (99,742)
Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns, Schedule 1 (87,855) (23,228)
Rental income, Schedule 2 35,951 35,523

(101,110) (86,411)

Deficiency of revenues over expenditures for year $ (70,426) $ (56,855)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
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Statement 3
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
Year ended December 31

Invested in
Capital Assets unrestricted

Total
2014

Total
2013

Balance, beginning of year $ 286,884 $ 143,722 $ 430,606 $ 426,202

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures (5,994) 75,705 69,711 4,404

Balance, end of year $ 280,890 $ 219,427 $ 500,317 $ 430,606

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 3
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
Year ended December 31

Invested in
Capital Assets unrestricted

Total
2016

Total
2015

Balance, beginning of year $ 276,920 $ 166,542 $ 443,462 $ 500,317

Deficiency of revenues over
expenditures (8,804) (61,622) (70,426) (56,855)

Balance, end of year $ 268,116 $ 104,920 $ 373,036 $ 443,462

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
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Statement 4
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year ended December 31

2014 2013

Operating
Excess of revenues over expenditures for the year $ 69,711 $ 4,404
Items not affecting cash

Amortization 10,159 10,119
Loss on sale of capital assets - 1,661

79,870 16,184
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable 1,389 (2,105)
Inventory (7,464) (7,219)
Prepaid expenses (2,862) 484
GST receivable 6,550 (6,639)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (56,724) 10,967
Prepaid grant (1,625) (19,838)

19,134 (8,166)

Investing
Purchase of investment (50,001) -
Purchase of capital assets (4,163) (4,848)
Proceeds on disposal of capital assets - 2,014

(54,164) (2,834)

Decrease in cash resources (35,030) (11,000)

Cash resources, beginning of year 207,170 218,170

Cash resources, end of year $ 172,140 $ 207,170

Cash resources consists of:
Cash $ 22,140 $ 57,170
Term deposits (Note 13) 150,000 150,000

$ 172,140 $ 207,170

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 4
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year ended December 31

2016 2015

Operating
Deficiency of revenues over expenditures for the year $ (70,426) $ (56,855)
Item not affecting cash

Amortization 9,719 9,977

(60,707) (46,878)
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (3,271) (8,890)
GST receivable 2,528 (2,389)
Inventory 8,201 2,638
Prepaid expenses 10,407 (25,908)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (6,085) 54,899
Prepaid grant - (13,037)
GST payable 8 -

(48,919) (39,565)

Investing
Decrease (increase) in investment - 50,001
Purchase of capital assets (915) (6,008)

(915) 43,993

Increase (decrease) in cash resources (49,834) 4,428

Cash resources, beginning of year 176,568 172,140

Cash resources, end of year $ 126,734 $ 176,568

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016

1. Incorporation and nature of business

BC Chicken Growers' Association was incorporated under the Society Act of British Columbia to
unite the commercial chicken growers in working for the betterment of the chicken industry and
to act as a liaison between chicken growers and marketing boards, industry and government.

2. Accounting policies

The Association applies the Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards
for not-for-profit organizations.

Financial statement presentation

These financial statements are restricted in scope and contain a representation only of the
financial activities pertaining to the British Columbia Chicken Growers Association.

Inventory

Inventory, which consists of items held for distribution at no cost, for the Poultry in Motion
trailers, is realized at the lower of cost or net replacement value.  Cost is determined using the
First-in First-out method.

Capital assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost.  The Association provides for amortization using the declining
balance method at rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets over their estimated
useful lives.  The annual amortization rates are as follows:

Buildings 4%
Poultry in Motion Educational Mini
Barns 10%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer equipment 30%
Educational video 10%

Income taxes

The Association is registered as a not-for-profit agricultural organization under the Society Act of
British Columbia, and as such is exempt from income taxes pursuant to Subsection 149(1)(e) of
the Income Tax Act.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016

2. Accounting policies (continued from previous page)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized as follows:

-Revenue from BC Chicken Marketing board are recognized as they are received.

-Revenue from the display of the "Poultry in Motion" trailers are recognized when the     service
is provided.

-Cost sharing revenue is recognized when it is billed.

-Rent revenue are recognized as income on a monthly basis as the rent is due.

-Unrestricted grant income is recognized as received, restricted grant income is recognized as the
restrictions from the grant are fulfilled.

-Interest is recognized as it is earned.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for
private enterprises requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported
period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

3. Financial instruments

Transactions in financial instruments may result in an entity assuming or transferring to another
party one or more of the financial risks described below. The required disclosures provide
information that assists users of financial statements in assessing the extent of risk related to
financial instruments.

(a) Fair value
The fair value of current financial assets and current financial liabilities approximates their
carrying value due to their short-term maturity dates.  The fair value of long-term financial
liabilities approximates their carrying value based on the presumption that the Association is
a going concern and thus expects to fully repay the outstanding amounts.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016

4. Inventory

2016 2015

Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns - teachers' guides and
promotional materials $ 3,844 $ 12,045

5. Capital assets

2016 2015

Cost
Accumulated
amortization Net Net

Land $ 100,277 $ - $ 100,277 $ 100,277
Buildings 243,417 115,510 127,907 133,236
Poultry in Motion Educational

Mini Barns 58,777 23,284 35,493 38,436
Furniture and fixtures 6,386 6,111 275 344
Computer equipment 4,783 4,153 630 700
Educational video 4,848 1,314 3,534 3,927

$ 418,488 $ 150,372 $ 268,116 $ 276,920

6. Related party transactions 

During the year, the Association received operating revenue of $559,455 (2015 - $444,083) and
rental revenue of $60,000 (2015 - $60,000) from the British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board.
These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange
amount, which was the amount of consideration established and agreed upon by the related
parties.

7. BC Poultry Association

During the year, the Association paid fees to the BC Poultry Association, which represents the
feather groups in BC. The BC Poultry Association is keenly interested in the continued
development of the bio-security initiatives within the BC Poultry Industry. It will strengthen the
long term viability of the entire industry to further develop on farm strategies that will minimize
disease infections and encourage improved flock husbandry practices. The BC Poultry
Association also represents the four feather groups by taking a lead on common issues and one
voice as required from time to time, making for a more efficient and cost effective representation
of the industry.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016

8. Professional fees

Details of the professional fees are as follows:

2016 2015

Audit $ 5,500 $ 5,200
Legal 5,735 25,805
Consulting 54,178 22,335

$ 65,413 $ 53,340

9. Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns Cost Sharing

The British Columbia Broiler Hatching Egg Producers' Association owns 20% of the Poultry in
Motion Educational Mini Barn I and shares in 20% of the net operating costs of the trailer for
each calendar year. An invoice was issued on December 31, 2016 to the BC Broiler Hatching Egg
Producers Association for $12,887. This amount represents cost sharing of $14,179 less $1,301
for per diem work and expenses that the BC Broiler Hatching Egg Producers Association paid
directly to its directors. The Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barn II is owned 100% by the
Association and there is no cost sharing involved in its operating costs.

10. British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

At the British Columbia Chicken Growers' Association Directors' meeting of February 9, 2017,
the directors passed a motion to return $49,578 plus GST of the 2016 operating surplus to the
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board. 

11. Economic dependence

The Association receives substantially all of its funding from the British Columbia Chicken
Marketing Board.
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Schedule 1
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
SCHEDULE OF POULTRY IN MOTION EDUCATIONAL MINI BARNS
Year ended December 31

2016 2015

Revenue
Operating revenue $ - $ 14,095
Cost sharing (Note 9) 14,179 8,810
Operating grants 17,773 28,037

31,952 50,942

Expenditures
Amortization 3,859 3,825
Attendants' remuneration 38,776 26,457
PIM coordinator's honorarium 30,975 15,040
Insurance 1,916 1,966
Operating 44,281 26,882

119,807 74,170

Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns losses $ (87,855) $ (23,228)
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Schedule 2
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
SCHEDULE OF RENTAL INCOME
Year ended December 31

2016 2015

Rental revenue $ 60,000 $ 60,001

Expenses
Amortization 5,329 5,552
Strata fees 10,205 10,205
Property taxes 8,515 8,721

24,049 24,478

Rental income $ 35,951 $ 35,523
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